Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Criminal Justice Dissertations

Department of Criminal Justice

8-1-2018

The Prevalence of Victimization and Use of Victims' Services on College Campuses: Are There Differences in the LGBQT Community?

Sarah Napper

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cj diss

Recommended Citation

Napper, Sarah, "The Prevalence of Victimization and Use of Victims' Services on College Campuses: Are There Differences in the LGBQT Community?." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2018. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cj_diss/13

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Criminal Justice at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Criminal Justice Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

THE PREVALENCE OF VICTIMIZOATION AND USE OF VICTIMS' SERVICES

ON COLLEGE CAMPUSES: ARE THERE DIFFERENCES IN THE LGBQT

COMMUNITY?

BY

SARAH LASHONE NAPPER

AUGUST 2018

Committee Chair: Dr. Leah E. Daigle

Major Department: Criminal Justice and Criminology

Research has identified the prevalence of victimization among college students, but the

extent to which LGBQT college students experience victimization and how that may vary

by type of victimization is unknown. Additionally, differences among these groups in the

utilization of available victim services on college campuses have not been examined. In

order to explore these concerns, the current study uses data from The National College

Health Assessment by The American College Health Association (ACHA-NCHA), which

includes data on students enrolled in universities and colleges from across the United

States. Results from this study have policy and practice implications for both LGBQT and

other college students and institutions of higher learning.

THE PREVALENCE OF VICTIMIZATION AND USE OF VICTIMS' SERVICES ON

COLLEGE CAMPUSES: ARE THERE DIFFERENCES IN THE LGBQT

COMMUNITY?

BY

SARAH LASHONE NAPPER

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctorate in Philosophy in the Andrew Young School of Policy Studies of Georgia State University

Copyright by
Sarah Lashone Napper
2018

ACCEPTANCE

This dissertation was prepared under the direction of the candidate's Dissertation Committee. It has been approved and accepted by all members of that committee, and it has been accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Criminal Justice and Criminology in the Andrew Young School of Policy Studies of Georgia State University.

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Leah E. Daigle

Committee: Dr. Mark D. Reed

Dr. Josh C. Hinkle Dr. Mike L. Johnson

Electronic Version Approved: Sally Wallace, Dean Andrew Young School of Policy Studies Georgia State University August, 2018

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my family for all of their love and support. To my husband, Edward Napper, who has always supported me, encouraged me to follow my dream, and never allowed me to give up. To my children and grandchildren, Aundrea, Chloe, Blake, Ms. Betty, and Mr. Charlie, who give me hope for a brighter tomorrow in generations to come. To my parents, who were always there for me and continue to be. To my best friend, Brandy Adams, who allowed me to vent without judgment, continuously picked me up when I felt defeated, and never wavered in challenging me to be the very best version of myself. And finally, to my Grandparents Mary and Gene, even though you didn't make it to the finish line with me, I know you are there in spirit.

This dissertation would not have been possible without you. I love you all.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank the numerous people who have made this dissertation possible. First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Leah E. Daigle. Dr. Daigle not only served as my dissertation chair, but also as my advisor and mentor. Without her, this dissertation would not be possible. Thank you Dr. Daigle, for always being supportive of me, my crazy life, my continuous revolving schedule, and my future. I am forever grateful for your time, guidance, and dedication to my journey through this process. I would also like to extend a heartfelt thank you to Dr. Mark D. Reed and Dr. Josh C. Hinkle for serving on my dissertation committee, along with Dr. Mike L. Johnson who not only served on my committee, but has been a source of support and guidance since my undergraduate days. Thank you for your continued time and support throughout this dissertation.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Andrew Young School of Policy Studies and the faculty and staff of the Criminal Justice and Criminology Department at Georgia State University as well as my PhD cohort and fellow graduate students. I would like to extend an extra special thank you to Brandy Adams, Susannah Tapp, Rebecca Konkel, Jane Daquin, and Andia Azimi for their friendship and continued support. They made this experience bearable and I would not be the person and scholar I am today without them. I am fortunate and so very grateful to have created lifelong friends with these remarkable and intelligent women. Thank you for the affirmation of my potential when I was discouraged, always lending an ear to vent my frustrations, and celebrating with me through even the most minor accomplishments.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLESiError! Bookm	ark not defined.
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: VICTIMIZATION OF LGBQT INDIVIDUALS	8
Extent	9
Bias crime	12
Risk Factors and Theortical Explanations	13
Mental health	16
Risky lifestyles	18
Consequences of Victimization	19
Reporting	21
CHAPTER III: UTILIZATION OF SERVICES	25
Overview of Services Utilized by Victims	26
Informal resources	26
College campus LGBQT resources.	29
Barriers to service for LGBQT individuals	31
Current Study	34
CHAPTER IV: METHODS	36
Data	36
Analytical sample	37
Restricted analytical sample	39
Measures	41
Dependent variables.	41
Independent variables	42
Control variables	43
Analyses	47
CHAPTER V: RESULTS	49
Bivariate Results	49
Multivariate Results	57

CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	64
Limitations	71
Policy Implications	73
Directions for Future Research	76
REFERENCES	79
VITA	94

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive Statistics Analytical Sample	38
Table 2 Descriptive Statistics Restricted Analytical Sample (Victims Only)	40
Table 3 Factor Analyses-Any Victimization	41
Table 4 Bivariate Analyses Examining Gender (Full Analytical Sample).	50
Table 5 Bivariate Analyses Examining Sexual Orientation (Full Analytical Sample)	52
Table 6 Bivariate Analyses Examining Gender (Restricted Sample-Victims Only)	54
Table 7 Bivariate Analyses Examining Sexual Orientation (Restircted Sample-Victims Only)	
Table 8 Binary Logistic Regression Models Predicting Victimization	60
Table 9 Binary Logistic Regression Models-Use of Services for Victims	61

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Victimization occurs much too often. Findings from the National Crime

Victimization Survey (NCVS) suggest 21.1 per 1,000 residents who are 12 years of age
and older experience violent victimization every year (BJS, 2017). Past research shows
that victimization among college students is also quite prevalent. According to the

NCVS, 80 per 1,000 male college students and 43 per 1,000 female college students were
victims of violence (BJS, 2005). In addition, a study conducted by Fisher, Sloan, and Lu
(1998) estimated 37% of college students reported experiencing at least one form of
victimization during their time in school.

These results highlight the general risk of victimization for college students. It is known, however, that they are at risk for a variety of types of victimization (Banyard, et al., 2007; Fisher, Cullen, & Turner, 1999; Smith, White, & Holland, 2003). Koss and her colleagues (1987) established a well-known national standard for risk of rape and sexual assault among college women that, on average 1 in 4 college females experience rape at least once during their college tenure. Not only are college women at risk for sexual victimization, but males are also at risk. Banyard and her colleagues (2007) suggested that in comparison to females (20%), about 8% of college males experience rape during their time in college. College students may also experience violence at the hands of their intimate partners. Overall, rates of intimate partner violence (IPV) range between 19-27% for both college men and women. Considered together, the findings from these studies show that violent victimization is prevalent among college students and suggest there is a large number of victims on college campuses who could benefit from the use of victim services.

Although researchers have established the prevalence of violent victimization for college students in general, little research has examined violent victimization among college students who self-identify as sexual or gender minorities. That is, we know much less about the victimization of college students who self-identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, and/or transgender (LGBQT). Research on general risk shows that individuals who identify as LGBQT face greater risk for victimization by strangers, violence at school in grades K-12, intimate partner violence, sexual violence, and family violence when compared to their heterosexual and gender normative counterparts (Cniro et al., 2005; D'Augelli, Grossman, & Starks, 2006; Faulkner & Cranston, 1998; Freedner, Freed, Yang, & Austin, 2002; Hammelman, 1993; Hunter, 1990; Johnson, Matthews, & Napper, 2016; Martin & Hetrick, 1988; McFarland & Dupuis, 2001).

There are limited findings regarding the victimization risks of LGBQT college students. One study revealed 10% of gay college men, 18% of lesbian college women, and 13.1% of bisexual or transitioning male and female college students experienced some form of sexual victimization (Murchison, Boyd, & Pachankis, 2017). Even less is known about students who self-identify as transgender. In studies of sexual victimization that include transgender college students, they are five times more likely to report sexual victimization when compared to female students (Johnson, et al., 2016).

These limited findings suggest that LGBQT college students may be victimized at high rates; thus, they may be in need of services. Despite this possible need, we do not know the extent to which college students who have experienced victimization utilize victims' services that may be offered both on and off campus, or how this usage may differ for LGBQT students compared to their sexual and gender normative counterparts.

This usage is important to understand for heterosexual and LGBQT college students because access and ability to utilize services after victimization could make a difference in continued victimization risk and mental health problems (Bauer-Wolf, 2018; Simmel, Postmus, & Lee, 2016).

When examining the differences in victimization and victim services, the unique circumstances LGBQT individuals face need to be addressed. Past research suggests there is an increased risk for victimization that may lead to a higher need for victim services when compared to other college students (Meyer, 2003). A lack of social support from peers or parents or both, in addition to unmet societal expectations could create greater consequences for LGBQT individuals stemming from their increased victimization and the absence of a solid support system (Meyer, 2003). These factors may lead them to utilize services more often than other groups of college students.

Despite this possibility, the use of victim services among college students who identify as LGBQT has not been studied.

Many reasons for the increased need for services for LGBQT persons exist. For LGBQT persons, support from family, friends, and their communities in general may be limited as these individuals do not conform to society's expectations concerning their sexual orientation and/or sexual identities (Meyer, 2003; Plöderl, et al., 2014). By defying gender and sexual orientation expectations, LGBQT individuals are often the target of victim blaming when they report victimization (Plöderl, et al., 2014). Furthermore, LGBQT individuals and victims are often ostracized, ridiculed, and made to feel something is wrong with them by their families and peers (Plöderl, et al., 2014). These views have a considerable impact on a person's mental well-being, which can lead

to risky lifestyle choices and behaviors such as binge drinking and drug use in an attempt to fill the void of a positive social support system (Delonga, et al., 2011).

In addition, LGBQT individuals can exhibit psychosocial and psychological challenges that are distinctive to their sexual identity (internal, family, and peer stressors), which may lead to victimization or contribute to re-victimization (Savin-Williams, 2001). Rates of anxiety, substance abuse, depression, suicidal ideation, and participation in risky behaviors are also high among LGBQT victims in comparison to heterosexual and gender conforming victims. The consequences from victimization and weak family and peer support systems can be detrimental to both the mental and physical well-being of the LGBQT community (Delonga, et al., 2011; Duong & Bradshaw, 2014; Smalley, Warren, & Barefoot, 2016) and may exacerbate underlying issues.

Considering the high risk and rates of victimization among LGBQT individuals as well as the severe consequences that can come from victimization, it is important to address issues affecting access to and use of victim services for this community. Some LGBQT individuals fear insensitive and homophobic treatment from victim service staff, which can keep them from seeking victim services and formally reporting their victimization (Delonga, et al., 2011). In some cases, it may not be that victim service workers are insensitive or homophobic, but the projected insensitivity could stem from a lack of training whereby victim service workers are unaware of how to handle the needs of victims who differ from societal (and perhaps their own) expectations of victimization.

Additionally, limited knowledge and training among victim service providers can create an uncomfortable and unsympathetic environment for LGBQT persons (Mallory, et al., 2015). An inability to receive or access services and support could potentially lead

to increased numbers of victims among LGBQT college students by increasing the risk that an individual will participate in riskier behaviors (alcohol and drugs) to self-medicate as a coping mechanism. These behaviors can in turn increase an individual's risk of victimization (Donatone & Rachlin, 2013).

In addition to problems that LGBQT victims may have with victim service providers, they may also be less likely than others to report their victimization to the police. In most cases, entrance into the criminal justice system as a victim typically begins with a formal report. However, not all responses to victimization are developed through the formal process. LGBQT individuals are less likely to go through formal channels to report victimization due to biased treatment from criminal justice professionals (Starzynski, Ullman, Townsend, Long, & Long, 2007; Ullman & Breklin, 2002). When compared to heterosexual and gender conforming individuals, those who identify as LGBQT are more likely to seek help through informal services such as counseling, crisis centers, and self-help groups (Lambda Legal, 2016).

While support and services exist for victims of crime who choose to access the criminal justice system, accessibility and support for victims who identify as LGBQT may be limited. These challenges, combined with high rates of victimization and a lack of formal reporting to law enforcement (Mallory, Hasenbush, & Sears, 2015), show a need for accessibility to victim services and victim service providers who can address the unique circumstances and cater to LGBQT individuals' specific needs, especially among college students. If it can be established that these groups do face greater victimization and use victim services more frequently than their counterparts, providing services that are better equipped to meet the needs of differing groups in college students could help

reduce victimization and its negative consequences. Conversely, if they are victimized at high levels and *not* using services, then it would indicate that LGBQT victims are possibly not having their needs met. Either way, this knowledge could be used to create a better platform for LGBQT victims to report occurrences of victimization to formal and informal systems. It can also inform victim service providers about the need for cultural sensitivity training on college campuses and for criminal justice professionals, medical providers, and social services.

Currently, there are no studies that have examined how differing groups (LGBQT and non-LGBQT college students) face differing types of victimization (sexual and non-sexual) on college campuses as well as how they utilize victim services on and off campus. This study will address those gaps in the literature. In doing so, the following research questions will be addressed.

- 1. Are LGBQT college students more likely to experience victimization when compared to heterosexual and gender conforming college students?
- 2. What types of victimization, if any, are LGBQT college students more likely to face?
- 3. Which of these groups are utilizing victims' services more often on and off college campuses?
- 4. Are there differences in service utilization among LGBQT victims and non-LGBQT victims?

To investigate these questions, the subsequent chapter discuss the victimization of LGBQT individuals, and how hate crimes, mental health, and psychosocial elements play a role in that victimization (Chapter II). Chapter III analyzes the utilization of victim

services and underlines the importance of intervention and cultural sensitivity training among victim service providers. Chapter IV outlines the methodological and analytical techniques that will be employed to examine the potential relationship between victimization and the use of victim services for differing sexual orientations and genders among college students. Findings from analyses will be presented in Chapter V, followed with a discussion in Chapter VI of these findings and how they relate to policy recommendations for victims' services and providers.

CHAPTER II: VICTIMIZATION OF LGBQT INDIVIDUALS

Heightened victimization risk for LGBQT people is among the reasons why victim services are important. Most studies estimate about 2% to 14% of the population identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer, and/or transgender (LGBQT)1 (Veltman & Chaimowitz, 2014). Members of the LGBQT community are at higher risk for all types of victimization (Felix, Hoyle, Posick, Miller, & Stogner, 2015) when compared to their heterosexual and gender conforming counterparts (Walters, Chen, & Breiding, 2013). The percentage of lifetime victimization experienced by LGBQT individuals in the United States is estimated to range from 9% to 56% (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2012). LGBQT persons are at highest risk for verbal (56%) and sexual harassment (50%) (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2012). As these numbers suggest, victimization of sexual and gender minorities is substantial with some studies finding that nearly half experience some form of victimization within their lifetime (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2012). In a national-level college study conducted by Johnson, Matthews, and Napper (2016), findings suggested sexual minority college students, other than those who identify as lesbians, report sexual victimization at a higher rate than heterosexual students. Another study examining intimate partner violence (IPV) found that same-sex IPV rates were higher than oppositesex IPV rates (Burke & Follingstad, 1999). According to Edwards and colleagues (2015), when compared to heterosexual individuals, sexual minorities (lesbian, gay, bisexual, queer) reported significantly higher incidence rates of physical domestic violence, sexual assault (any unwanted sexual contact), and unwanted pursuit victimization (stalking behaviors).

-

¹ The term gender and sexual minority will also be used to refer to LGBQT individuals.

Additionally, Toomy and colleagues (2010) found that transgender identity predicted victimization risk. Transgender individuals also report higher rates of harassment attributed specifically to their gender identity, when compared to gender conforming individuals (Rankin, Weber, Blumenfeld, & Frazer, 2010). Transgender youth are also more likely than students who identified as male or female to fear for their safety because of possible physical and verbal harassment and intimidation (Clements-Nolle, Marx, & Katz, 2006; Kenagy, 2005; Lombardi, Wilchins, Priesing, & Malouf, 2001; Rankin et al., 2010). These findings highlight the importance of expanding our understanding of this population's victimization.

Extent

The extent to which sexual and gender minorities are victimized varies across differing types of victimization, but remains high across the LGBQT community. According to Hein (2008), 53% of sexual minority females and 32% of sexual minority males have experienced rape at least once. These percentages are five times the national average for heterosexual females and eight times the national average for heterosexual males. Another study analyzed emergency room visits for sexual minorities who experienced violent victimization and found that they were 2.3 times more likely to be victims of sexual assault than heterosexuals (Cramer, McNiel, Holley, Shumway, & Boccellari, 2011; Hein & Scharer, 2013). It is possible this high rate of sexual victimization is a result of hate-motivated rape referred to as corrective rape (rape of an LGBT individual by a heterosexual individual to cure them of their homosexuality) (Anguita, 2011; NCAVP, 2011, p.23).

The risk of experiencing non-sexual victimization is also high. In particular, prior research has highlighted the problem of intimate partner violence (IPV) within the LGBQT population (Felix, et al., 2015; Sigurvinsdottir & Ullman, 2015). Findings show that IPV and stalking are most common for bisexual women (63.1%), followed by lesbians (43.8%), and heterosexual women (35.0%) (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2013). Currently, none of these studies reported rates for individuals who identified as transgender, but there is some research that suggests transgender individuals may experience greater rates of IPV when compared to LGBQ, heterosexual, and gender conforming persons (Ard & Makadon, 2011; Goldberg, Matte, MacMillan, & Hudspith, 2003; Landers & Gilsanz, 2009). In one study, 34.6% of transgender respondents reported lifetime physical abuse rates by a partner versus 14% for gay or lesbian individuals (Landers & Gilsanz, 2009). The high rates of IPV among LGBQT persons challenges conventional notions that such violence solely affects heterosexual women.

Persons who identify as non-heterosexual also face differing types of victimization (workplace discrimination, harassment from peers at school, violent victimization, sexual violence, and emotional abuse) when compared to heterosexual individuals. For example, Berrill's (1992) quantitative review of LGB violence and victimization across 24 studies found 9% experienced assault with a weapon, 17% experienced physical assault, 19% experienced vandalism and property crimes, 44% were threatened with violence, 33% were chased or followed, 25% had objects thrown at them, 13% had been spat on, and 80% had been verbally harassed. Unfortunately, the majority of previous studies on violence against gay, lesbian, and bisexual individuals are limited

because they are based on small samples that do not represent the population of LGB people (Tjaden, Thoennes, & Allison, 1999).

There are differences within the LGBQT community regarding the prevalence of sexual victimization. For example, lesbian and bisexual women are at higher risk for sexual victimization when compared to heterosexual women (Drabble, Trocki, Hughes, Korcha, & Lown, 2013; Sigurvinsdottir & Ullman, 2015). In a nationally representative study, 79.6% of bisexual women, 59.1% of lesbian women, and 43.2% of heterosexual women faced lifetime sexual violent victimization (Drabble et al., 2013).

Although research is limited on victimization of transgender persons, the current literature suggests individuals who identify as transgender are victimized the most (Grant et al., 2011). Grant and colleagues (2011) found that 35% of transgender individuals have been physically assaulted and 12% experienced rape. The Anti-Violence Project of Massachusetts (1990) found 61% of transgender respondents reported being the victim of a "hate crime" that involved sexual victimization and/or physical violence (Berrill, 1990). Although very little information is available concerning the overall violent victimization of transgender individuals, the Human Rights Campaign suggests increasing transgender deaths over the last few years is a serious problem within the United States (from 21 in 2015 to 28 in 2017) (Human Rights Campaign, 2015; 2016; 2017; 2018). In some cases, these deaths involved anti-transgender bias, while others did not.

College students who identify as being LGBQT may also experience victimization at high rates. In general, reviews concerning students' safety and victimization rates on college campuses are mixed (Evans & D'Augelli, 1996; Fisher et al., 1998; Johnson, et al., 2016; Kingsbury, et al., 2007; Rankin, 2003). According to the

Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS), between 1995 and 2002, college students ages 18 to 24 had lower annual violent victimization rates compared to non-students within the same age group (61 per 1,000 students versus 75 per 1,000 non-students) (Baum & Klaus, 2005). With the exception of rape/sexual assault where there was no statistical difference between the two groups, average yearly rates were lower across all types of victimization measured (robbery, aggravated assault, and simple assault) (Baum & Klaus, 2005). The majority of violent victimization experienced by college students was simple assault (63%) (Baum & Klaus, 2005). Although there is debate about whether college students are more likely to be victimized on or off campus, one consistent finding suggests LGBQT persons experience higher rates of victimization both on and off campus compared to sexual and gender conforming counterparts (Baum & Klaus, 2005; Fisher, et al., 1998; Johnson, et al., 2016). The difference may be attributed to their sexual and gender identities thus implying a need for services aimed at these particular groups.

Bias crimes. Some victimization of LGBQT persons (threats of violence, verbal harassment, physical and sexual assault) can be classified as hate crimes based on the victim's sexual orientation. In 2016, law enforcement agencies noted 7,615 victims of hate crimes. Of those, 17.7% were specifically targeted for differing sexual orientation status (FBI, 2016). These statistics only represent the incidents reported to law enforcement that occurred within a year; thus, these numbers underestimate the true extent of bias-motivated crimes against LGBQT individuals. There is also inconsistency in estimates of hate crime victimization due to discrepancies in how hate crimes are defined and measured across states. Since each state has the ability to include or exclude protections for LGBQT victims of hate crimes and decide what those protections will be

(Hein & Scharer, 2013; Human Rights Campaign, 2011), it is not possible to compare states' hate crime victimization rates.

Risk Factors and Theoretical Explanations

Research has demonstrated that LGBQT individuals are at heightened risk of being victimized. The reasons behind this risk are not fully understood, but mental health complications are linked to experiences with minority stress along with engagement in risky behavior (Meyer, 1995, 2003). Although theories will not be specifically tested within this study, their propositions are used as guidance when attempting to understand risk factors leading to increased victimization and the importance and use of victim services. The two perspectives emphasized in this study are routine activities-lifestyles theory, a combination of Cohen and Felson's (1979) routine activities theory and Hindelang and colleagues (1978) lifestyle-exposure theory, and minority stress theory by Meyer (2003). Minority stress theory indicates external social conditions can be sources of stress that lead to mental and physical harm (Meyer, 2003). People who belong to stigmatized groups may experience social stressors such as discrimination and prejudice (Meyer, 2003). As it relates to LGBQT individuals, one of the key elements of minority stress theory suggests that bias and discrimination promotes minority stressors that can have mental health implications for members of these minority groups (Meyer, 1995; 2003). Specifically, minority stress theory identifies three perceived encounters such as discrimination, internalized prejudice, and fear regarding a potential stigmatization as stressors that can contribute to negative mental health outcomes (Meyer, 1995; 2003). For example, these perceived encounters have been linked with depression, anxiety, substance use, and suicidal ideation among samples of LGB individuals (Brewster,

Moradi, Deblaere, & Velez, 2013; Cramer, Burks, Stroud, Bryson, & Graham, 2015; Lea, de Wit, & Reynolds, 2014; Newcomb & Mustanski, 2010).

External objective stressful events (chronic and acute) may also carry negative consequences. For example, some lesbian, gay, or bisexual individuals may be more alert during interactions with others because they expect some form of rejection, some may choose to hide their identity for fear they will be harmed, and they may internalize societal stigma attached to sexual minorities (internalized homophobia) (Meyer, 2003). Finally, individuals may internalize negative societal attitudes (Meyer, 1995; 2003). Meyer suggests that the concealment of the individual's sexual orientation is a stressor that may have severe internal psychological consequences including how an individual views other stressful situations. The experience of minority stress is important to understand as it puts LGBQT people at greater risk for victimization through how people respond to the experience of stress, which in turn would suggest a greater need for victim services.

The process whereby minority stress leads to victimization risk has been identified. Meyer (2003) argues the stress of being a minority leads individuals to participate in risky behaviors (alcohol use, drug use, risky sexual practices, and proximity to offenders), which heightens their risk for violent victimization. One specific way that stress may lead to substance use occurs when sexual and gender minorities feel rejected. Sexual and gender minorities who feel rejection from family members, community members, and/or peers may distance themselves to escape rejection and harm. By creating this distance, they alienate themselves from people and activities they previously enjoyed, leading to more internalized stress. Coping with rejection and harm may

involve turning to substance use such as drugs and alcohol for LGBQT individuals. As with most, substance use as a coping mechanism can be both mentally and physically harmful to an individual. In addition, there are specific risk factors that come from internalized homophobia including higher rates of mental health problems and suicidal ideation that also may lead to coping via alcohol or drugs. Kuyper and Vanwesenbeeck (2011) suggest gay, lesbian, and bisexual individuals have higher risk for unique and chronic stress directly related to internalizing their minority status. In response to this stress, people may use alcohol or drugs to cope.

Although stress combined with substance use are the main components for increasing violent victimization risk, Meyer's (2003) also suggests LGB individuals risk for victimization does not increase through stress and substance abuse alone. For violent victimization risk to increase, several things must come together at once; an offender has to be present, a sexual or gender minority dealing with these types of internalized stress has to be present, and the use of substances (drugs and/or alcohol) has to be present. As presented, many explanations of how minority stress links to victimization incorporate Hindelang et al.'s (1978) lifestyle-exposure theory and Cohen and Felson's (1979) routine activities theory (RAT). Minority stress increases risk of substance use and mental health issues, which puts minority individuals in closer proximity to offenders and greater risk for victimization. A small number of studies provide evidence to support these theoretical assumptions (Anderson, Hughes, Zou, & Wilsnack, 2014; Duncan, 1990; Edwards et al., 2015; Hequembourg, Livingston, & Parks, 2013; Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2012; Kuyper & Vanwesenbeeck, 2011; Oshri, Handley, Sutton, Wortel, & Burnette, 2014).

Mental health. Sexual minority status is consistently linked to increased risk for mental health problems, which increases the risk of victimization (Cochran & Mays, 1994, 2000; Cochran, Mays, & Sullivan, 2003; King et al., 2008; Marshal et al., 2008; Mays & Cochran, 2001). King and colleagues (2008) found that non-heterosexuals experienced an increased lifetime risk of suicide attempts, depression, anxiety disorders, and substance use disorders. The results also indicated that gay men and lesbian women were more likely than their heterosexual counterparts to have greater overall stress, but were also more likely to consult a mental health professional (King et al., 2008; McAleavey, Castonguay, & Locke, 2011). When compared to individuals who identify as heterosexual, gender and sexual minorities have been found to be at a higher risk for psychological difficulty (Cochran et al., 2003; King et al., 2008; Mustanski, Garofalo, & Emerson, 2010). A meta-analysis conducted by King et al. (2008) found adults identifying as LGB were 1.5 times more likely than heterosexual individuals to be at risk for depression, two times more likely than heterosexual individuals to attempt suicide, and 1.5 times more likely than heterosexual individuals to self-medicate using alcohol and other substances.

Variations in psychological problems have been found when examining different sexual orientations and gender identities. Men who identify as gay or bisexual are at more risk for depression (Cochran et al., 2003), suicide attempts throughout their life (King et al., 2008), and mental disorders such as anxiety, schizophrenia, and psychotic diagnoses (Bolton & Sareen, 2011) when compared to heterosexual males. Women who identify as lesbian or bisexual frequently exhibit anxiety disorders (Cochran et al., 2003)

and issues with substance use (Bolton & Sareen, 2011) at higher rates in comparison to heterosexual women.

LGBQT victimization may stem from stressful events and internalized stress caused by their minority status, which can worsen or intensify underlying mental health problems that already exist (Meyer, 2003). The concealment of an individual's sexual orientation or gender creates stress that can have severe internal psychological consequences (Meyer, 2003). This psychological stress is important to understand as it puts gender and sexual minorities at greater risk for victimization, and may lead to more negative consequences post-victimization. According to Mustanski and colleagues (2016), LGBT youths with high or increasing levels of victimization beginning in adolescence and continuing into early adulthood are at higher risk for depression and posttraumatic stress disorder when compared to non-LGBT youths (Mustanski, Andrews, & Pucket, 2016). Koss and colleagues (1991) found that almost all victims made visits to mental health facilities on an outpatient basis in the two years following the victimization (Koss, Woodruff, & Koss, 1991). These findings would suggest that mental health treatment is a vital source of assistance for victims, especially if mental health issues already existed as victimization can worsen those outcomes (Koss, et, al., 1991; Mustanski, et al., 2016). Evidence suggests LGB persons are at greater risk for poor mental health across all stages of life including depression and mood disorders (Cochran et al. 2007), anxiety disorders (Cochran et al. 2003), alcohol use and abuse (Burgard et al. 2005), and suicide ideation and attempts (Cochran et al. 2003) as a response to bullying and victimization when compared to heterosexual students (Poteat et al. 2009).

Risky lifestyles. One source of risk for LGBQT individuals is engagement in risky lifestyles. Hindelang et al.'s (1978) lifestyle-exposure theory emphasizes exposure to high risk activities, places, and individuals for increasing risk of victimization. In particular, spending time outside of the home in the company of non-family members, especially at night, puts people at risk for victimization. Cohen and Felson's (1979) routine activities theory argues that some routines put people at risk of victimization because they present themselves as an attractive target to offenders when there is a lack of capable guardianship (Cohen & Felson, 1979). Miethe and Meier's (1990) work combined these two theories together in a theoretical explanation referred to as "structural-choice" theory of victimization. Miethe and Meier (1990) argues these two theories, when combined, highlight the importance of proximity to motivated offenders, exposure to high-risk situations, attractive targets, and the absence of guardians as essential for crime to occur. Under this theoretical model, proximity and high-risk situations are believed to be "structural" features as social interactions can predispose people to risky situations, whereas attractive targets and lack of guardianship characterize the "choice" element as it controls selection of attractive targets within social settings (Meier & Miethe, 1993). These combined theories are useful as they show exposure to risky lifestyles, proximity to motivated offenders, attractive targets, and lack of guardianship are necessary for victimization to occur (Meier & Miethe, 1993).

Together, these theoretical perspectives may partially explain the risk that LGBQT individuals, and college students, face for victimization. For example, the convergence of suitable targets, motivated offenders, and lack of capable guardians frequently occurs among students on college campuses as a good portion of them engage

in risky behaviors such as using alcohol and drugs in environments that are often unsupervised. Further, previous research on LGBQT individuals contends that they may be attractive targets because of their more frequent participation in risk-taking behavior (substance abuse, risky sexual behavior, mental health issues) when compared to their sexual and gender conforming counterparts (Cochran & Mays, 1994, 2000; Cochran, et al., 2003; King et al., 2008; Marshal et al., 2008; Mays & Cochran, 2001; McAleavey, et al., 2011).

Consequences of Victimization

In addition to exploring the risks for victimization, it is also important to consider the effects that victimization may have for LGBQT individuals. Indeed, the prevalence of victimization is cause for concern due to short-term and lifelong effects that can range from physical/mental health problems and academic difficulties to continuing the cycle of victimization (Hanish & Guerra, 2002; Llewellyn & Rudolph, 2014; Solberg, Olweus, & Endresen, 2007). Some consequences related to physical and mental health issues are common among victims in general. Some of those consequences include physical and mental health outcomes including health risk behaviors (e.g. substance abuse, risky sexual behavior, etc.) and other health concerns like homelessness (Bouffard & Koeppel, 2014). Violent victimization has been related to posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance abuse (alcohol and drugs), depression, and suicidal ideation (Breslau, Davis, Peterson, & Schultz, 2000; Pimlott-Kubiak & Cortina, 2003; Taylor & Kliewer, 2006). Koss and colleagues (1991) found visits to physicians increased 13% to 22% for victims rather than non-victims, which resulted in their healthcare costs being 2.5 times greater than for non-victims.

Results from Bouffard and Koeppel's (2014) study support previous research regarding the relationship between victimization and adverse health effects. They found individuals who experienced consistent bullying early in life were more likely to experience higher rates of mental health issues. High rates of mental health issues could be especially important to individuals who identify as LGBQT as they are more likely to experience bullying victimization from peers (Berrill, 1992). In addition, Bouffard and Koeppel (2014) found that victimization was linked to alcohol consumption, smoking, and sexual activity. Specifically, victims of consistent bullying were more likely to smoke and experience re-victimization than non-victims. It is apparent that experiencing victimization has significant consequences that go beyond immediate physical and mental trauma. In addition, experiencing more than one victimization may result in more serious health outcomes (Bouffard & Koeppel, 2014).

The consequences of victimization have also been examined for college students. For example, college students who experience victimization are more likely to be depressed, sometimes more than 10 years after the victimization occurred (McGinley, Wolff, Rospenda, Liu, & Richman, 2016). In addition to depression, college students who were victimized reported increases in anxiety and low self-concept. College students who identify as LGBQT report greater levels of anxiety, depression, and substance use (McGinley, et al., 2016). This is consistent with consequences faced by victims within the general population. For individuals who identify as LGBQT, consequences of victimization could be even more damaging. Due to already weakened social support systems, sexual and gender minorities can be more vulnerable to the consequences stemming from victimization (Meyer, 2003). These behaviors have been

implicated in victimization risk; thus, strong social supports may reduce victimization risk through its effect on behaviors that expose people to victimization and its attendant consequences.

Reporting. Whatever the risk and reasons underlying victimization rates, one of the unintended consequences for most victimization is the lack of reporting to police. This underreporting is especially pronounced among sexual violence, IPV, and biasrelated victims (Daigle, 2013). According to the National Institute of Justice (NIJ) (2017), only 27.5% of rapes, 34% of attempted rapes (NIJ, 2010), and 26% of sexual assaults were reported to law enforcement. The lack of reporting may be problematic in that in cases of rape, Resnick and colleagues (2000) found that participants who formally reported to police were much more likely to receive medical care (Resnick, Holmes, Kilpatrick, Clum, Acierno, Best, et al., 2000). This lack of care is not surprising since reporting to law enforcement initiates key steps in the investigative process, such as collecting forensic evidence in case victims choose to go forward through formal means (McCart, Smith, & Sawyer, 2010). In cases of intimate-partner violence, about half of incidents are reported to police (FMF, 2014). According to the National Crime Victimization Survey and a report conducted by the Bureau of Justice Statistics (1999), approximately 50% of victimization incidents are not reported to law enforcement (Rennison, 1999).

Non-reporting also holds for college students as research shows only 25% of incidents of victimization are reported to police or campus officials, especially among college females (Koss, et al., 1987; Sloan et al., 1997). Considering all types of victimization among college students, sexual victimization is much less likely to be

reported to law enforcement or campus officials (Fisher, et al., 2003). Understanding why victimization continues to go under-reported is essential to implementing victim services that can adequately provide for these groups. There are many reasons why victims do or do not report to the police. As indicated by previous research, there are some aspects of victimizations that may increase the likelihood of victims reporting to police (Hart & Rennison, 2003; Skogan, 1984). Specific characteristics such as crime type, the use of a weapon, and property damage or loss greater than \$300 were more likely to predict formal reporting among victims (Briones-Robinson, Powers, & Socia, 2016). According to RAINN (2010), the common reasons for victims to report victimization are to protect others from future victimization (28%), to prevent recurrence or escalation (25%), or the victim feels they have a duty to do so (21%). Unfortunately, it is common for victims not to report because they fear retaliation (20%), they have no trust in the criminal justice system (13%), or they believe the incident to be a personal matter (13%) (FMF, 2014; NIJ, 2017; RAINN, 2010). The lack of reporting to formal sources in the criminal justice system may also be linked, in part, to the relationship between the victim and offender. Prior research indicates many victims are known to their offenders as a friend or acquaintance (Daigle, 2013). When a victim does report, it is more likely the offender is a stranger, there is serious bodily harm that requires medical attention, and/or a weapon was used during the commission of the crime (Mallicoat & Ireland, 2014).

The lack of reporting following a sexual assault, rape, IPV, stalking, and other interpersonal violence is well documented among the general population; however, within the LGBQT community less is known, although bias victimization is severely

underreported (Vocativ, 2015). According to Potok (2013), the percentage of violent hate crime victims who do not report has risen from 14% in 2003-2006 to 24% in 2007-2011. Further, the FBI's Uniform Crime Report (UCR) reported 7,615 hate crimes, but findings from the NCVS show much higher figures—closer to 40 times greater than the numbers generated by the FBI (FBI, 2016; Vocativ, 2015). Although there are many reasons for non-reporting among LGBQT victims, the most often cited is grounded in motivation, as they cannot demonstrate bias motivation for the offense. The implication is that bias crimes against LGBQT individuals are motivated specifically because of sexual orientation and/or gender, but motives are difficult to prove (Potok, 2013). This difficulty in proving motive means it is unlikely that bias-crime perpetrators are brought to justice. While not all victimizations LGBQT individuals face are biased in nature, reporting for all types of crimes in general is lower when compared to heterosexual and gender conforming victims (Potok, 2013). Although there are no formal statistics to denote differences in reporting rates across these groups, the FBI's Uniform Crime Report (2016) suggests 64.3% of victims within the general population versus 11.9% of bias crime victims reported aggravated assault.

For college students, reasons for non-reporting differ slightly. Previous research suggests formal reporting was less likely when drugs and/or alcohol were present at the time of the victimization as this would likely lower their reliability as a victim (Fisher et al., 2003). Among other reasons for non-reporting among college students is the lack of evidence of victimization, fear of retaliation, and the fear that family members and peers may find out (Fisher et. al., 2003). The reasons for not reporting to the police may be different for LGBQT victims. In fact, one of the main reasons for not reporting stems

national survey of LGBT individuals found 73% of respondents had a face-to-face contact with law enforcement within the past five years (Lambda Legal, 2016). This survey revealed that of the 73% of sexual minority respondents, 21% reported the attitudes of the police were hostile, 14% said the police verbally assaulted them, 3% reported sexual harassment by the police, and 2% claimed the officer physically assaulted them (Lambda Legal, 2016). For those who were reporting as a victim of crime (62% experienced physical assault, 49% experienced property crime, 41% experienced IPV, 39% experienced sexual assault), the majority claimed the police were inadequate in handling their reports and failed to fully handle complaints (Lambda Legal, 2016). Police abuse, neglect, and misconduct were consistently reported more frequently by individuals who identified as transgender (Lambda Legal, 2016).

When LGBQT victims choose to formally report their victimization to law enforcement and have a negative response, they are less likely to continue with the criminal justice process (Lambda Legal, 2016). As the police are often the first to encounter victims, it is important their relationship be one of mutual understanding and respect so that LBGQT victims who report their experience then have access to other victim services.

CHAPTER III: UTILIZATION OF SERVICES

Understanding the correlates and consequences of victimization can aid in the understanding of why victim services are needed, especially those that are sensitive to sexual and gender minorities. When individuals are victimized, they may seek out victim services. Understanding the reasons why individuals are victimized may help inform the types of services they may need and use. Building off of the discussion in Chapter II, theoretical explanations aid in understanding why victimization risk and extent for LGBQT individuals is higher in comparison to heterosexual and gender conforming individuals. Such theoretical frameworks also guide the consideration of victim services to address the needs of all victims including sexual and gender minority groups. Understanding if victims are using services and if there are differences between sexual and gender minorities and their counterparts is important because services received by LGBQT victims may not be adequate to address the risks and consequences they face.

As noted in Chapter II, the most commonly used theories to explain victimization are lifestyle-exposure theory and routine activities theory (L/RAT). Although there is ample evidence that shows that college students are at risk for victimization because of their engagement in risky lifestyles, such as consuming alcohol and drugs without adult supervision, it may be that LGBQT college students face particular risks, which suggest a greater need for services. According to previous research, LGBQT individuals may be attractive targets because of their engagement in risk-taking behavior (substance abuse, risky sexual behavior, mental health problems) that is more frequent than their sexual and gender conforming counterparts (Cochran & Mays, 1994, 2000; Cochran, et al., 2003; King et al., 2008; Marshal et al., 2008; Mays & Cochran, 2001; McAleavey, et al., 2011). However, L/RAT may not be adequate in explaining the risk of victimization among

LGBQT individuals thus leading to increased utilization of victim services. Instead, as discussed in Chapter II, minority stress theory may also apply. Increased stress and internalized homophobia specifically related to an individual's sexual minority status may increase their risk for mental health issues and engagement in risky behaviors, thereby leading to higher rates of victimization. Furthermore, minority stress theory may be better at explaining why victim services could be particularly useful for LGBQT individuals considering their increased risk of victimization.

Overview of Services Utilized by Victims

Victim services play an important role for victims following their victimization. Through informal sources, victims are afforded opportunities to create an individualized support system that could potentially lessen the negative effects of violent and sexual victimization. Given the high rates of victimization among LGBQT persons and the fact that certain risk factors and consequences may be unique to LGBQT people, victims may need specific services that address their individual needs after victimization. A brief overview of services utilized by victims can help shed light on what is commonly currently offered to victims.

Informal resources. We know that not all victims report to the police. The issues that LGBQT individuals face when reporting victimization to law enforcement not only hinder the victim from coming forward, they may serve as a deterrent for other LGBQT victims from reporting their victimization as well. In fact, most victims seek help from informal resources such as counseling services, resource centers, or family and peers rather than formal resources (Starzynski et al., 2007; Ullman & Breklin, 2008). For example, one study claims three-fourths of rape victims will talk to a female friend about

their victimization over other informal means (Pitts & Schwartz, 1993). In the majority of cases, victims of sexual assault report to friends in an effort to receive support and the resource that will be the most helpful to them (Frazier & Burnett, 1994). Despite this awareness of the use of informal services, their use is less understood among LGBQT victims. This lack of knowledge is particularly troubling given the high rates of victimization that LGBQT victims face and the fact that they are likely to need assistance outside of using the police. Further, the types of services received and the effectiveness of these services has not been fully researched.

For example, rape crisis centers' and domestic violence shelters may not provide services that are germane to LGBQT victims. Rape crisis centers provide victim advocacy and support services to sexual assault and rape victims with a focus on supporting victims and the prevention of sexual violence (NSAC, 2010). In cases of sexual assault, victims are often referred to sexual assault nurse examiners (SANEs) (Fehler-Cabral, Campbell, & Patterson, 2011; Henderson, Harada, & Amar, 2012). SANEs are registered nurses with specialized training in treating sexual assault victims. Since victims are overwhelmingly female, SANE training focuses more on female victims (NSVRC, 2015) and can leave many SANEs unprepared to adequately handle male victims, transgender victims, and/or victims of differing sexual orientation. Similar to sexual assault and rape, victims of domestic violence and intimate partner violence (IPV) are usually female, (1 in 3 women, 1 in 7 men) (National Coalition against Domestic Violence, 2015; National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, 2010); hence, a more female-oriented approach is found in domestic violence shelters (Tollefson, 2015). Out of the approximately 1,500 domestic violence shelters across the

U. S., less than half are open to both male and female victims (National Coalition against Domestic Violence, 2015).

Victims of crime can also suffer serious mental, physical, and emotional problems (Cochran & Mays, 1994, 2000; Cochran, et al., 2003; King et al., 2008; Marshal et al., 2008; Mays & Cochran, 2001; McAleavey, et al., 2011), which may require treatment from mental health providers. Mental health providers can aid with treatment through group or individual therapy, medication, or if needed, hospitalization (Kane, Robinson, Schooler, Mueser, Penn, Rosenheck, & Marcy, 2015). Again, more often it is females who are utilizing these services. For example, several studies that have focused on mental health service utilization among victims of crime found female victims are more likely than male victims to seek services from mental health professionals (Kaukinen, 2004; New & Berliner, 2000). Interestingly, several studies have suggested that victims are more likely to seek mental health services when they have a larger family and peer support system (Norris, Kaniasty, & Scheer, 1990; Starzynski et al., 2007; Ullman & Breklin, 2008). This relationship may be especially concerning for LGBQT victims as they are less likely to have the support of family and peers when compared to their counterparts (Meyer, 2003).

Other research suggests that LGBQT people may use mental health services at higher rates than others (Cochran et al., 2003; McAleavey et al., 2011). Specifically, one study of sexual assault victims found women who identified as lesbian or bisexual were more likely than heterosexual women to utilize mental health services (Starzynski et al., 2007). Whether similar findings would be found among LGBQT victims who are college students is unclear as little is known in this area. While services are offered to LGBQT

victims in the form of crime victim assistance programs, these programs are typically geared toward those victims willing to participate in the formal process of the criminal justice system. Programs like In Our Own Voice in New York assist LGBQT victims with compensation claims and crisis intervention through hotlines and group counseling, provide emergency assistance in obtaining shelter, and offer assistance in obtaining legal counsel (In Our Own Voice, 2017). However, victim assistance programs such as the one offered in New York are rare as very few of these programs exist across the United States. Most often for LGBQT victims, for lack of such resources, mental health providers are the first people they go to.

Examining the use of informal services among LGBQT individuals, there are three reasons why minority stress theory is an important theoretical perspective to consider. First, LGBQT victims may feel more comfortable utilizing informal services rather than formal reporting due to the fear of ridicule from police regarding their minority status. Second, the majority of victims enlist the help of female friends; however, minority stress theory suggests LGBQT individuals have less support from family and peers due to their minority status, which may leave victims with few sources of informal support. Lastly, the increased number of mental health problems that LGBQT individuals face related to the stress of being a minority and internalized homophobia increases the chances that LGBQT victims will need informal services when compared to non-LGBQT victims.

College campus LGBQT resources. On college campuses, LGBQT students are more visible than ever (Renn, 2017). To accommodate them, many colleges have begun to introduce student organizations and resource centers on campuses aimed specifically at

the LGBQT student body. The extent to which these student organizations and resource centers can help with rates of victimization and service utilization is unknown. For LGBQT students, access to these resources on campus creates a space to safely explore their sexuality and gender privately. For others, it provides opportunities to connect with individuals familiar with the struggles associated with their minority status (Renn, 2017). Some argue that these resources can help LGBQT college students navigate trickier aspects of college life that may increase their risk of victimization (Renn, 2017). Despite this possibility, there is no empirical support that LGBQT student organizations and resource centers on college campuses provide positive support for victims in this way as a great deal remains unknown.

Most LGBQT student organizations and resource centers focus on campus climate and legal protections for LGBQT students within the individual institution that prohibit discrimination; not necessarily victimization or victim services (Renn, 2017). It is also unclear if the use of services will lessen the effects of victimization for LGBQT victims. LGBQT student organizations do, however, advocate for campus healthcare and counseling to be inclusive of all students including all sexual orientations and transgender students. They argue this could decrease time lost in the classroom due to chronic or acute mental health needs that are not currently being addressed (Renn, 2017). There is little question that there are more services for LGBQT victims on and off college campuses today than there were several decades ago. Yet, the extent to which LGBQT individuals are affected by victimization and how these organizations aid in victim service utilization is undetermined.

Beyond specific LGBQT organizations on college campuses, colleges and universities are currently wrestling with the question of how to respond effectively and efficiently to an increase in need for victim services and mental health services nationwide (CCMH, 2016). The demand for services includes issues with risk, need, and diagnoses as well as other factors that can make it difficult to assess what works and what does not. The pressure to get it right results in solutions that are rigid and lack the ability to be culturally sensitive to differing types of victims, which affects the success of services offered on and off campuses (Bauer-Wolf, 2018).

Of LGBQT college students who do utilize services, one report from the Center for Collegiate Mental Health (CCMH) (2016) suggests college students who struggle with their gender and sexual orientation identity utilize counseling services on campus for longer periods of time compared to their counterparts. The CCMH, housed at Penn State University, found that college students who identified as transgender participated on average in 10.6 counseling sessions over the course of their collegiate career, college students who identified as LGBQ participated on average in 8.4 sessions, while sexual and gender conforming college students participated on average in 6.5 sessions (CCMH, 2016). According to this study, LGBQT students are spending more time utilizing services both on and off campus when compared to their counterparts. This study, however, did not report usage rates for victims and whether barriers for usage exist for LGBQT victims.

Barriers to service for LGBQT individuals. Research on service accessibility and barriers to victim services for LGBQT individuals is limited as well. A few studies examining service accessibility among LGBT youths (Travers & Paoletti, 1999; Travers

& Schneider, 1996) suggest that barriers encountered by gay and lesbian youth (ages 17-24) include ignoring sexual orientation as an issue, deflection, outing of an individual's sexual orientation status, harassment, and misinformed staff (Acevedo-Polakivich, et al., 2011). These barriers could explain why LGBQT individuals do not utilize services in the same way as non-LGBQT individuals.

Problems such as a lack of funds and personnel who can specifically offer services to LGBQT clients, in addition to a "one-size-fits-all" approach ignore the unique needs of these victims (National Center for Victims of Crime, 2015). Among SANEs and rape crisis centers, providers are trained to handle cases that typically involve heterosexual female victims (Campbell & Martin, 2001). For example, in a study of male to female transgender individuals in San Francisco (Nemoto, Operario, & Keatley, 2005), researchers found that 29% of those needing access to rape crisis services were unable to access them. Research supports transgender individuals choosing not to seek healthcare because of fear and discrimination (Seelman, Colon-Diaz, LeCroix, Xavier-Brier, & Kattari, 2017). Seelman, et al. (2017) found 19% of transgender victims were refused medical care and 28% were subjected to verbal harassment by service providers. Interestingly, transgender individuals perceive themselves to be the most in need for services, but are less likely to utilize them because of their experiences with discrimination, victim blaming, and rejection by victim service providers (Seelman, et al., 2017). Informal services grounded in bias against victims who differ from socially accepted sexual orientations and genders destroy any opportunity to create a support system for these victims (Campbell & Martin, 2001).

In domestic violence shelters, the exclusion of LGBQT victims can cause further emotional, psychological, and physical harm (Greenberg & Harris, 2012). In a report that examined the experiences of LGBT survivors of domestic violence (GLBT Domestic Violence Coalition, 2005), both institutional and individual discrimination based on gender identity were occurring. Research shows that the lack of culturally-sensitive IPV shelters creates issues among these victims, including their ability to seek shelter from abusive intimate partners, reporting to law enforcement due to perceived or actual homophobic views (Lambda Legal, 2016), and creating concerns about receiving and enforcing protection orders (Potoczniak, Murot, Crosbie-Burnett, & Potoczniak, 2003). These issues make it difficult for LGBQT intimate partner violence victims to utilize and receive IPV services.

Not only do LGBQT victims face barriers receiving services for sexual assault and IPV, they also face barriers with medical professionals and services in the mental health field. The research on access and barriers for mental health services following victimization is more developed. Emotional barriers including shame, embarrassment, and the stigma associated with identifying as having a mental illness prevent LGBQT individuals from seeking mental health services (Jaycox, Marshall, & Schell, 2004; Rodriguez, Valentine, Son, & Muhammad, 2009). Because of these barriers, the number of LGBQT victims who utilize mental health services is low (Veltman & Chaimowitz, 2014). The low number of LGBQT victims utilizing mental health services is compounded by health care providers who often lack the knowledge and skills required to handle their unique circumstances. One national study found LGBQT participants felt professionals had an inadequate level of knowledge of their lifestyles and felt the service

professionals were homophobic (Veltman & Chaimowitz, 2014). Unfortunately, many LGBQT individuals fear and avoid traditional health care (Veltman & Chaimowitz, 2014). Accordingly, perhaps the bigger issue for mental health services may be with mental health practitioners and the quality of services, rather than access to these services. Despite this possibility, the extent to which LGBQT college students are victimized and use services on and off campus has not been explored.

Current Study

Given the high rates of victimization among LGBQT individuals, there is a need for specialized formal and informal services and resources for this unique population. Although some studies have included differing sexual orientations and specific types of victimization, none have specifically examined how different groups (LGBQT and non-LGBQT) may face differing types of victimization (sexual and non-sexual) on college campuses within the same study as this one does. This study also contributes to the existing literature by including both sexual orientation and gender-identity (e.g., transgender) within the same study. Such inclusion allows for a more specific examination of how victimization and victim services may differ for these marginalized groups. There is also a need to understand how LGBQT victims are utilizing these services on and off campus when compared to their counterparts, especially while controlling for mental health. Other studies have not identified differences in usage or whether being LGBQT influences their use. To fill the gaps in the literature, the current study seeks to examine differences in victimization and the use of services among LGBQT and non-LGBQT college students and victims. In doing so, the following questions will be addressed.

- 1. Are LGBQT college students more likely to experience victimization when compared to heterosexual and gender conforming college students?
- 2. What types of victimizations, if any, are LGBQT college students more likely to face?
- 3. Which of these groups are utilizing victim's services more often on and off college campuses?
- 4. Are there differences in service utilization among LGBQT victims and non-LGBQT victims?

•

CHAPTER IV: METHODS

Data

Data used in the current study were derived from the Spring 2013 American College Health Association's (ACHA) National College Health Assessment II (NCHA), which is a national survey of college students designed to collect data about students' health habits, behaviors, and perceptions (ACHA-NCHA II, 2014). The American College Health Association initiated the original ACHA-NCHA in 2000 and collected data for sixteen consecutive Fall and Spring semesters until the revised version began in the Fall of 2008. The revised survey, the ACHA-NCHA II, added a number of new questions and items to monitor a variety of health constructs. Specific revisions include an updated list of illegal drugs, contraceptive methods, and vaccines. New items captured sleep behaviors, self-injury, the use/abuse of prescription drugs, and additional mental health issues (ACHA-NCHA II, 2014). The ACHA-NCHA now provides the largest known comprehensive data set on the health of college students.

Beginning Fall of 2008, the ACHA-NCHA II has been conducted in the Spring and Fall of each year. For the current study, only the Spring 2013 ACHA National College Health Assessment II data are utilized. One hundred fifty-three post-secondary institutions self-selected to participate in the Spring 2013 survey, with 123,078 students completing surveys, which resulted in an overall response of 34%. Only institutions located in the USA that surveyed all students or used a random sampling technique are included in the analysis. ACHA-NCHA II data were specifically chosen for this study based on their ability to provide extensive information at a national level on differing types of victimization, the use of services on college campuses, and the extent of mental health issues among college students. In addition, it also allows respondents to self-

identify as differing sexual and gender minorities. Specifically, the Spring 2013 data were utilized due to its large sample size, its measures of sexual and gender minorities, and because it is the most recently available Spring instrument. The fall surveys have a much smaller sample size—for example the sample was 32,964 respondents in Fall 2013 that included sixty-three postsecondary institutions who self-selected to participate.

Analytical Sample

After listwise deletion of all respondents who were missing data on variables to be used in this study, the analytical sample consists of 113,276 respondents. As shown in Table 1, the analytical sample was predominately female (65.7%), and 60.1% percent identified as White, 5.4% of respondents were Black/African American, 12.8% were Asian, 5.9% identified as Multiracial/Biracial, 2.8% identified as other, and 12.3% identified as Hispanic. Almost a quarter of the sample classified as a freshman (22.4%) and lived on campus (36.7%). Only 9.8% claimed affiliation with Greek organizations. About one-fifth of college students in the sample (19.6%) claimed they felt unsafe on their campus. Most commonly, students reported drinking alcohol one to two days over the last 30 days (17.6%), and 15.8% of respondents consumed alcohol ten days or more within the month. Among respondents, 18.7% reported some form of drug use in the 30 days prior to the completion of the survey. Regarding mental illness, 16.9% of students reported they had been diagnosed or treated by a professional for at least one type of mental health issue within the past year. The majority of college students in this sample said they had only had one sexual partner (44.6%) in the past twelve months, but 25.9% of respondents claimed to have had two or more sexual partners.

A small percentage of people, 0.2% (n=260) identified as transgender. The majority of respondents in the sample identified as heterosexual, with approximately 8.9% (n=10,073) of respondents self-identifying as non-heterosexual. Approximately

	Percent	N
ll Victimization	22.1%	25,004
on-Sexual Victimization	18.9%	21,451
exual Victimizations	6.5%	7,335
ilized Services On Campus	15.8%	17,844
tilized Services Off Campus	41.2%	46,627
ender		-,
Male	34.1%	38,630
Female	65.7%	74,386
Transgender	0.2%	260
xual Orientation		
Heterosexual	91.1%	103,203
Non-Heterosexual	8.9%	10,073
ental Health	16.9%	19,124
cohol Use		
1-2 Days a Month	17.6%	19,902
3-5 Days a Month	16.8%	19,056
6-9 Days a Month	15.2%	17,223
10+ Days a Month	15.8%	17,874
ıg Use	18.7%	21,164
ual Partners		
1 Partner in 12 Months	44.6%	50,537
2+ Partners in 12 Months	25.9%	29,329
r in School		
Freshman	22.4%	25,396
Non-Freshman	77.6%	87,880
ving On Campus	36.7%	41,567
n't Feel Safe on Campus	19.6%	22,143
eek Involvement	9.8%	11,118
ce		
White	60.9%	68,936
Black/African American	5.4%	6,120
Hispanic/Latino	12.3%	13,948
Asian	12.8%	14,439
Multiracial/Biracial	5.9%	6,683
Other	2.8%	3,150

22.1% of respondents claimed to have experienced at least one type of victimization in the last 12 months. Violent victimization was more common than sexual victimization,

with 6.5% of the sample indicating they experienced some form of sexual victimization and 18.9% indicating they had experienced some form of non-sexual violent victimization in the last 12 months. A large minority of respondents utilized services off campus (41.2 %), and fewer students utilized services on campus (15.8%) through the college or university.

Restricted analytical sample. A restricted analytical sample was used to identify only those respondents who said they had experienced at least one type of victimization (n=25,004). This restriction allows for comparisons among victims and their use of services. As shown in Table 2, the restricted sample of victims was predominately female (59.7%) and White (62.8%), and 5.8% of respondents were Black/African American, 8.7% identified as Asian, 7.7% identified as Multiracial/Biracial, and 3.3% classified as other with 11.7% identifying as Hispanic. About one-quarter of victims classified as freshman (25.6 %), 38.6% lived on campus, and 12.4% of claimed Greek affiliation. Almost one-fourth of victims in the restricted sample (22.8 %) noted they felt unsafe on their campus. Within thirty days prior to the completion of the survey, 16.1% of victims consumed alcohol one to two days within the month, and 23.4% said they engaged in alcohol use ten or more days within the last thirty days. The majority of victims in this sample (44.1%) said they had two or more sexual partners in the last twelve months.

About one-third of victims (31.1 %) claimed to have engaged in drug use within thirty days of completing the survey. With regard to victims and mental illness, 24.0% of students reported being diagnosed or treated by a professional for at least one mental health issue within the past year. Only 0.5% of victims identified as transgender, and the

majority identified as heterosexual (87.4 %). A majority of victims utilized services off campus (51.7 %) when compared to those who utilized services on campus (21.0%) through the college or university.

Table 2: Descriptive Statistics Restricted Analytical Sample (Victims Only N=25,004)				
1 20,001)	Percent	N		
Utilized Services On Campus	21.0%	5,249		
Utilized Services Off Campus	51.7%	12,922		
Gender				
Male	39.8%	9,959		
Female	59.7%	14,931		
Transgender	0.5%	114		
Sexual Orientation				
Heterosexual	87.4%	21,853		
Non-Heterosexual	12.6%	3,151		
Mental Health	24.0%	5,988		
Alcohol Use		·		
1-2 Days a Month	16.1%	4,014		
3-5 Days a Month	17.5%	4,371		
6-9 Days a Month	18.4%	4,598		
10+ Days a Month	23.4%	5,839		
Drug Use	31.1%	7,778		
Sex Partners				
1 Partner in 12 Months	37.0%	9,239		
2+ Partners in 12 Months	44.1%	11,022		
Year in School				
Freshman	24.6%	6,152		
Non-Freshman	75.4%	18,852		
Living On Campus	38.6%	9,645		
Don't Feel Safe on Campus	22.8%	5,706		
Greek Involvement	12.4%	3,098		
Race				
White	62.8%	15,698		
Black/African American	5.8%	1,439		
Hispanic	11.8%	2,939		
Asian	8.7%	2,170		
Multiracial/Biracial	7.7%	1,936		
Other	3.3%	822		

Measures

Dependent variables

Victimization. Respondents were asked in the past 12 months whether they had, (1) "experienced physical assault," (2) "experienced verbal assault," (3) "been sexually touched without consent," (4) "experienced attempted vaginal, anal, or oral penetration without consent," and (5) "experienced completed vaginal, anal, or oral penetration without consent." These items were combined to create one dichotomous measure of victimization, with those who indicated having experienced any of these behaviors during the past 12 months coded as 1 and those who did not experience any of these behaviors coded as 0. A factor analysis was conducted in STATA 14 with all five items in this measure and the factor loadings are presented in Table 3. Overall, this analysis indicated

Table 3: Factor Analyses-Any Victimization

Variables	Factor 1	Factor 2	Uniqueness
Physically Assaulted	0.272	0.378	0.783
Verbally Threatened	0.257	0.400	0.774
Sexually Touched w/o Consent	0.574	0.045	0.669
Attempted Rape	0.784	-0.149	0.364
Completed Rape	0.738	-0.156	0.432

that two distinct factors were underlying student's responses to certain types of victimization, sexual and non-sexual. A measure of violent victimization was created by using the items indicating physical assault and verbal assault. This measure was dichotomously coded such that individuals who experienced any of these behaviors during the past 12 months were coded as 1 and coded as 0 if they had not experienced any of these behaviors. A separate measure of sexual victimization was created by using items that indicate being sexually touched without consent, attempted rape, and

completed rape. The final measure was coded to show individuals who experienced any of these behaviors during the past 12 months (coded as 1) or if they had not experienced any of these (coded as 0). This scale has a reasonably strong reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) of .67, indicating these items do tap into the construct of victimization.

Utilization of services. To determine whether or not victims were utilizing

services on campus, respondents were asked if they have ever received psychological or mental health services from their current college/university's counseling or health service. Respondents indicated either a yes (coded as 1) or a no response (coded as 0). To determine whether victims were utilizing services off campus, participants were asked if they had ever received psychological or mental health services from any of the following, (1) "Counselor/Therapist/Psychologist," (2) "Psychiatrist," (3) "Other medical provider (e.g., physician, nurse practitioner)," and (4) "Minister/Priest/Rabbi/Other clergy." While these items do not specify that they are off campus providers, it is more likely students would receive these services off campus through private practitioners. Participants indicated either a yes or no response to each of these items. The response items were summed and recoded to create an off-campus utilization of services measure that indicates whether students utilized victim's services outside the university (coded as 1) or not (coded as 0).

Independent variables

Sexual orientation. College students' sexual orientation was measured by asking students to self-identify as heterosexual, gay or lesbian, bisexual, or unsure.² Students

² Approximately 2.1% (n=2,459) of respondents self-selected 'unsure' as their sexual orientation

who indicated they identified as heterosexual were coded as 0 and all other categories were coded as 1 to represent non-heterosexual college students.

Gender. To account for gender's relationship to differing types of victimizations and the use of services among victims on college campuses, respondents were asked to indicate whether they identified as male, female, or transgender. The variable was recoded such that males were coded as 0, females were coded as 1, and transgender students were coded as 2. Males were then set as the reference group for the analysis.

Control variables

Race. Minorities typically are found to be at higher risk of experiencing certain types of victimization than others. For example, Baum and Klaus (2005) found non-Whites more likely to experience robbery, aggravated assault, and serious violent crime when compared to Whites. Literature is limited for racial minorities who also identify as sexual and gender minorities, but evidence suggests a smaller number of racial minorities identify as LGBQT when compared to White individuals (Cherng, 2017). Though limited, one study suggests that the racial composition of non-LGBQT individuals varies significantly across the population; yet, the stigma of having more than one minority status (i.e. both Black and gay) could hinder some individuals from identifying as a racial minority and a sexual minority. To assess the possible relationship between race, sexual/gender minorities, victimization, and use of services, a measure for race was included. College students were requested to identify their race by being asked, "How do you usually describe yourself?" Responses to seven different categories were recoded to reflect 0=White, 1=Black/African American, 2=Hispanic, 3=Asian/Pacific Islander/Native Hawaiian (hereafter Asian), 4=Multiracial/Biracial, and 5=other. The

remaining racial groups (i.e., American Indian, Native Alaskan, Native Hawaiian) were collapsed into a single category as there were not enough people in individual categories for analyses to be performed. In the original variables, categories were not mutually exclusive. To create mutually-exclusive categories, participants who reported "yes" to being "White" and "no" to all other races were coded as "White." This was repeated for "Black/African American", "Hispanic", and "Asian." Those who reported as more than one race were categorized as "Multiracial/Biracial". All others were categorized as "other." In the multivariate analysis, people who are White (the zero category) were used as the referent category.

Year in school. Current research indicates that non-sexual victimization and sexual victimization is most common during the first year of college and freshman students are often at increased risk when compared to all other students (Howard, Griffin, & Boekeloo, 2008; Nicoletti, Bollinger, & Spencer-Thomas, 2009). To assess this relationship, students were asked to identify if they were "1st year undergraduate," "2nd year undergraduate," "3rd year undergraduate," "4th year undergraduate," "5th year or more undergraduate," "graduate or professional," "not seeking a degree," or "other". This variable was recoded and dichotomized to reflect respondents who identified as freshman =1 and all others=0.

Living on campus. Students who reside off campus are more likely to experience victimization than students who live on campus (Baum & Klaus, 2005). To account for this relationship, a measure was used to address whether a student lived on or off campus. Students were asked if they currently lived in a "campus residence hall," "fraternity or sorority house," "Other college/university housing," "parent/guardian home," or "other

off campus housing." Responses from these individual categories were then combined and recoded to reflect students who lived off campus =1 and students living on campus =0.

Perceived safety on campus. Fear of crime and perceptions of safety are influenced by a variety of elements, but college students report moderate to high levels of fear on campus, regardless of actual crime rates (Tomsich, Gover, & Jennings, 2011). For example, McCreedy and Dennis (1996) observed 86% of students reported high levels of fear that they may be a victim of violence, but fear varies depending on age, gender, race, and prior victimization (Sloan, Lanier, & Beer, 2000). To assess the relationship between fear, victimization, and service utilization, students were asked to indicate how safe they feel on their campus, with responses ranging from very safe (coded as 1) to not safe at all (coded as 4). This variable was then dichotomized to reflect whether students felt safe on campus (coded as 0) or whether they did not feel safe on campus (coded as 1). This measure was dichotomized because very few respondents answered either feeling very safe or not safe at all.

Greek involvement. The research on Greek membership and victimization risk is inconclusive (Scott-Sheldon, Carey, & Carey, 2008), but some studies indicate that it increases risk for victimization (Lasky, Fisher, Henriksen, & Swan, 2017). To assess involvement in Greek organizations, students were asked if they were a member of a social fraternity or sorority where no was coded as 0 and yes was coded as 1.

Mental health problems. College students who experience mental health issues are at increased risk for victimization when compared to students who do not experience mental health issues (Holt, et al., 2017). Individuals who are LGBQT may also have

elevated risk for mental health issues (Fredriksen-Goldsen, Kim, Barkan, Muraco, & Hoy-Ellis, 2013). Thus, a measure of mental health issues was included. College students were asked to indicate whether they had been diagnosed or treated by a professional in the last 12 months for six conditions that indicate issues with mental health (e.g., anxiety, bipolar disorder, depression, panic attacks, schizophrenia, and any other mental health conditions). These items were recoded into dichotomous variables and summed and recoded to create a mental health measure that indicates if students said they had been diagnosed or treated for any mental health condition in the past 12 months (coded as 1) or had not been diagnosed or treated (coded as 0).

Risky sexual behavior. Although research is limited, experiences of victimization are linked with increases in risky sexual behaviors, especially for individuals who identify as sexual and gender minorities (DeCamp & Newby 2014). In addition, lifetime prevalence rates of casual sexual encounters among college students are as high as 86% and could be higher among the LGBQT student population (LaBrie, Hummer, Ghaidarov, Lac, & Kenney, 2014). In order to identify risky sexual behavior, respondents were asked how many partners they have had oral sex, vaginal intercourse, or anal intercourse with over the last twelve months. Most students indicated having 1 to 2 partners within the last twelve months. As such, the measure was recoded into three categories reflecting respondents with zero sexual partners over the last 12 months coded as 0, one sexual partner coded as 1, and two or more sexual partners coded as 2. Having no partners served as the referent category in the multivariate analyses.

Alcohol consumption. College campuses have high levels of alcohol use (Wechsler & Nelson, 2001), and such use is linked to victimization risk (Wechsler, Lee,

et al., 2000). Further, LGBQT college students may use alcohol at higher rates than other students (Ebersole, Noble, & Madson, 2012). To identify alcohol consumption among college students, respondents were asked how many days in the past thirty days had they consumed alcohol (beer, wine, and/or liquor). Eight response categories were recoded to reflect students who said they never drank or had not drank in the last thirty days (coded as 0), consumed alcohol one to two days in the past thirty days (coded as 1), consumed alcohol three to five days in the past thirty days (coded as 2), consumed alcohol six to nine days in the past thirty days (coded as 3), and students who consumed alcohol ten or more days within the month (coded as 4). This measure was categorized in this way because very few respondents were in the original categories of 10-19 days a month, 20-29 days a month and respondents who said they consumed alcohol on a daily basis.

Drug use. Illegal drug use has long been associated with violence and victimization (Weiner, Sussman, Sun, & Dent, 2005); thus, a measure was used to identify illegal drug use among college students. Respondents were asked if they had used nine types of drugs or substances in the last 30 days and on how many days did they use them. These included substances such as marijuana, cocaine, methamphetamines, sedatives, opiates, and other club and illegal drugs. These items were recoded into dichotomous variables and combined to create a drug use measure that indicated if students said they had used drugs or substances within the past 30 days (coded as 1) or not (coded as 0).

Analyses

Analyses will be conducted in three stages. In the first stage, bivariate analyses, including cross tabulations with chi-square tests were conducted to establish if significant

relationships existed between each of the key independent variables (sexual orientation and gender), control variables, and the dependent variables (victimization and utilization of services). In the next stage, multivariate binary logistic regression models were used to examine the potential relationships between sexual orientation and gender and differing types of victimization, holding other variables constant. Models were also conducted to examine the possible relationship between sexual orientation and gender and the utilization of services, while controlling for other relevant variables (Weinberg & Abramowitz, 2002). Finally, to examine if sexual orientation and gender are related to service utilization differently among victims, these same binary logistic regression models were conducted with only those who indicated having experienced a violent victimization or a sexual victimization.

Like all regression analyses, the logistic regression is a predictive analysis (Menard, 2002). Logistic regression is used to describe data and to explain the relationship between one dependent binary variable and one or more nominal, ordinal, interval or ratio-level independent variables (De Vaus, 2002). These models used in this dissertation assess whether sexual and gender minorities experience higher rates of differing types of victimizations and use services at higher rates. They also examine among victims whether or not gender and sexual minorities utilize victims' services on and off campus more in comparison to their gender and sexual conforming counterparts. To account for the clustering of individuals within schools, robust standard errors were used in STATA 14.

CHAPTER V: RESULTS

Bivariate Results

To address research questions one, two, and three, bivariate analyses with each of the independent and control variables and the outcome variables of victimization and the use of services were conducted. Table 4 depicts the bivariate relationships between gender and victimization, the use of services, and all other control variables. Results of the chi-square analysis indicated a significant association between any types of victimization (i.e. sexual and non-sexual) and gender. Specifically, 25.8% of males, 20.1% of females, and 43.6% of transgender college students experienced victimization in the past twelve months. These findings show that the odds of students who identify as transgender experiencing any type of victimization are 2.2 times the odds of males and 3.1 times the odds of females experiencing any type of victimization.³ To get the odds, first the odds of males experiencing any type of victimization was calculated [9,959/28,671=0.35]. Second, the odds of transgender students experiencing any type of victimization was calculated [114/146=0.78]. Finally, the odds of transgender students (0.78) was divided by the odds of male students (0.35) experiencing any type of victimization [0.78/0.35=2.23]. This same formula was repeated for females. Across the differing types of victimization, those who identify as transgender had 1.84 times the odds of males and 3.1 times the odds of females experiencing non-sexual victimization and 6.5

_

[0.58/0.19=3.1] and for all genders for sexual victimization.

³ Here, the odds ratios were hand calculated using information from crosstabs produced through STATA 14. Odds ratio (OR) is a simple statistic and can be hand calculated as it is here, [OR = (a/b)/(c/d)], to determine the odds of a particular event (i.e. victimization) for a particular group (i.e. transgender) at risk for that event and if the outcome is the same when compared to a different group (McHugh, 2009).

⁴ Non-sexual victimization odds were calculated as follows: Males [9,575/29,055=0.33]; Females [11,781/62,605=0.19]; Transgender [95/165=0.58]. The odds of transgender students was divided by the odds of male students experiencing victimization [0.58/0.33=1.8]. This process was repeated for females

times the odds of males and 2.9 times the odds of females experiencing sexual victimization. Across the board, college students who identified as transgender experienced more victimization than both males and females, suggesting that those who identify as transgender are at greater risk when compared to male and female college students.

	Male			
	Yes	Female Yes	Transgender Yes	
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	X^2
Victimization			. ,	•
All Victimization	25.8 (9,959)	20.1 (14,931)	43.6 (114)	553.446***
Non-Sexual	24.8 (9,575)	15.8 (11,781)	36.5 (95)	1400.000***
Victimization				
Sexual Victimization	3.6 (1,375)	7.9 (5,906)	20.8 (54)	893.458***
Use of Services				
On Campus	11.2 (4,328)	18.0 (13,404)	43.1 (112)	1000.000***
Off Campus	32.9 (12,705)	45.3 (33,727)	75.0 (195)	1800.000***
Mental Health Issues	11.1 (4,276)	19.8 (14,708)	53.9 (140)	1600.000***
Alcohol Use				748.904***
Don't Drink	34.1 (13,166)	34.9 (25,957)	37.7 (98)	
1-2 Days	15.0 (5,796)	18.9 (14,065)	15.8 (41)	
3-5 Days	15.9 (6,153)	17.3 (12,863)	15.4 (40)	
6-9 Days	15.6 (6,040)	15.0 (11,157)	10.0 (26)	
10+ Days	19.4 (7,475)	13.9 (10,344)	21.2 (55)	
Drug Use	22.4 (8,639)	16.7 (12,446)	41.9 (109)	554.287***
Sexual Partners				550.444***
None	29.8 (11,514)	29.3 (21,826)	26.2 (70)	
1 Partner	40.7 (15,713)	46.7 (34,743)	31.2 (81)	
2+ Partners	29.5 (11,403)	24.0 (17,817)	41.9 (109)	
Freshman	22.4 (8,642)	22.5 (16,710)	16.9 (44)	4.652
Living On Campus	34.9 (13,489)	37.6 (27,981)	37.3 (97)	79.686***
Perceived Safety on	89.6 (34,592)	75.7 (56,341)	76.9 (200)	3100.000***
Campus				
Greek Affiliation	8.8 (3,414)	10.3 (7,676)	10.8 (28)	63.310***
Race				354.167***
White	59.7 (23,046)	61.5 (45,745)	55.8 (145)	
Black/African American	4.7 (1,820)	5.8 (4,293)	2.7 (7)	
Hispanic	12.5 (4,824)	12.2 (9,103)	8.1 (21)	
Asian/Pacific Islander	14.4 (5,555)	11.9 (8,861)	8.9 (23)	
Multiracial/Biracial	5.5 (2,116)	6.1 (4,518)	5.8 (15)	
Other	3.3 (1,269)	2.5 (1,866)	5.8 (15)	
Non-Heterosexual	9.6 (3,713)	8.3 (6,165)	75.0 (195)	1500.000***

The results also show that in comparison to male and female college students, those who identify as transgender utilize services both on and off campus at greater rates. As shown in Table 4, gender was related to use of services. A greater percentage of transgender students used services on campus compared to males or females. In fact, 43.1% of transgender students, 11.2% of males, and 18.0% of females indicated using services on campus. In addition, 75.0% of transgender students, 32.9% of males, and 45.3% of females reported using services off campus.

In terms of the utilization of services, all students were more likely to utilize services off campus rather than on campus. Results from bivariate analyses conducted for each of the control variables suggest all demographic variables are significant in relation to gender with the exception of whether or not the students identified as a freshman in college. Other variables designed to assess risky lifestyle and minority stress theory were also related to gender. A greater percentage of transgender individuals reported having mental health issues, drinking frequently, using drugs, and having two or more sexual partners as compared to males or females.

Bivariate analyses were also conducted to examine the relationship between sexual orientation and the independent variables, control variables, victimization, and use of services. The results of the chi-square analysis are shown in Table 5, and they indicate a significant association between sexual orientation and victimization. A greater percentage of non-heterosexual individuals experienced any type of victimization, non-sexual victimization, and sexual victimization compared to heterosexual individuals. For example, 31.3% of non-heterosexual individuals reported any victimization, 26.4% experienced non-sexual victimization, and 11.7% reported sexual victimization compared

with 21.2% of heterosexual individuals who reported any victimization, 18.2% who reported non-sexual victimization, and 6.0% who reported sexual victimization.

Collectively, those who identified as non-heterosexual experienced more victimization when compared to heterosexual students. Those who identify as non-heterosexual are at greater risk of victimization when compared to their heterosexual counterparts.

	Heterosexual	Non- Heterosexual	
	Yes	Yes	2
	% (N)	% (N)	X^2
Victimization		T	T
All Victimization	21.2 (21,853)	31.3 (3,151)	544.992***
Non-Sexual Victimization	18.2 (18,791)	26.4 (2,660)	401.927***
Sexual Victimization	6.0 (6,155)	11.7 (1,180)	501.115***
Use of Services			
On Campus	14.5 (14,987)	28.4 (2,857)	1300.000***
Off Campus	39.3 (40,588)	60.0 (6,039)	1600.000***
Mental Health Issues	15.6 (16,107)	30.0 (3,017)	1300.000***
Alcohol Use			66.074***
Don't Drink	34.9 (36,032)	31.7 (3,189)	
1-2 Days	17.6 (18,144)	17.5 (1,758)	
3-5 Days	16.7 (17,262)	17.8 (1,794)	
6-9 Days	15.2 (15,694)	15.2 (1,529)	
10+ Days	15.6 (16,071)	17.9 (1,803)	
Drug Use	17.8 (18,393)	27.5 (2,771)	566.834***
Sexual Partners			1000.000***
None	29.8 (30,788)	26.0 (2,622)	
1 Partner	45.6 (47,037)	34.8 (3,500)	
2+ Partners	24.6 (25,378)	39.2 (3,951)	
Freshman	22.6 (23,280)	21.0 (2,116)	12.690***
Living On Campus	36.7 (37,871)	36.7 (3,696)	0.000
Perceived Safety on Campus	80.4 (82,984)	80.9 (8,149)	1.406
Greek Affiliation	10.1 (10,457)	6.6 (661)	132.164***
Race			375.671***
White	61.2 (63,192)	57.0 (5,744)	
Black/African American	5.4 (5,579)	5.4 (541)	
Hispanic/Latino	12.3 (12,655)	12.8 (1,293)	
Asian/Pacific Islander	12.9 (13,299)	11.3 (1,140)	
Multiracial/Biracial	5.5 (5,680)	10.0 (1,003)	
Other	2.7 (2,798)	3.5 (352)	
	2.1 (2,170)	Note: *p < .05; **p	/ 01·***n / 00

The results also show that in comparison to heterosexual college students, those who identified as non-heterosexual utilize services both on and off campus had higher rates when compared to heterosexual students. As shown in Table 5, 14.5% of heterosexual students and 28.4% of non-heterosexual students reported using services offered by the university, while 39.3% of heterosexual students and 60% of non-heterosexual students reported to have used services off campus. Overall, a higher percentage of college students utilized services off campus (31.9%) compared to students who only used services on campus (9.2%), and a chi-square test indicated it was significant (p<.05).

Results from bivariate analyses conducted for each of the control variables suggest all but two control variables (i.e. living on campus and perceived safety on campus) are significantly related to sexual orientation. Similar to results found in the bivariate analyses for gender, college students who identified as non-heterosexual were 70.5% ([2.39/1+2.39=0.705]) more likely to report having been diagnosed or treated for a mental issue within the last twelve months when compared to heterosexual students.⁵

To address research question four and explore whether there is a relationship between gender and use of services among those college students who had been victimized, chi-square analyses between gender and the use of services among students who had experienced some form of victimization were conducted. As shown in Table 6, there was a significant association between victims utilizing services (i.e. on and off

_

⁵ In this case the odds of heterosexual students reporting mental health issues was calculated [16,107/87,096=.18]. Second, the odds of non-heterosexual students reporting mental health issues was calculated [3,017/7,056=.43]. Dividing the odds of non-heterosexual students reporting mental health problems by heterosexual students reporting mental health problems [.43/.18=2.39] shows the odds of non-heterosexual students reporting mental health issues are 2.39 times the odds of heterosexual students.

campus) and gender. Of college students, 13.7% of male victims, 25.6% of female victims, and 47.4% of transgender victims reported using services on campus in the past twelve months. These findings show that the odds of transgender students who have been victimized using services on campus are 1.3 times the odds of male students and 2.6 times the odds of female students who have been victimized using services on campus.

	Male	Female	Transgender	
	Yes	Yes	Yes	
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	X^2
Use of Services				
On Campus	13.7 (1,366)	25.6 (3,829)	47.4 (54)	560.554***
Off Campus	40.7 (4,501)	58.8 (8,779)	80.7 (92)	824.160***
Mental Health Issues	15.1 (1,507)	29.5 (4,400)	71.1(81)	813.744***
Alcohol Use				270.759***
Don't Drink	23.9 (2,377)	25.3 (3,773)	28.1 (32)	
1-2 Days	13.3 (1,327)	17.9 (2,671)	14.0 (16)	
3-5 Days	15.9 (1,587)	18.5 (2,762)	19.3 (22)	
6-9 Days	18.8 (1,874)	18.2 (2,712)	10.5 (12)	
10+ Days	28.1 (2,794)	20.2 (3,013)	28.1 (32)	
Drug Use	35.0 (3,483)	28.4 (4,246)	43.0 (49)	126.622***
Sexual Partners				63.320***
None	18.6 (1,847)	19.3 (2,878)	15.8 (18)	
1 Partner	34.9 (3,474)	38.4 (5,740)	21.9 (25)	
2+ Partners	46.6 (4,638)	42.3 (6,313)	62.3 (71)	
Freshman	24.2 (2,407)	25.0 (3,728)	14.9 (17)	7.855*
Living On Campus	36.4 (3,622)	40.1 (5,980)	37.7 (43)	34.214***
Perceived Safety on	86.3 (8,597)	71.2 (10,627)	64.9 (74)	788.309***
Campus				
Greek Affiliation	12.9 (1,281)	12.1 (1,803)	12.3 (14)	3.412
Race				109.905***
White	63.6 (6,337)	62.3 (9,303)	50.9 (58)	
Black/African American	4.8 (476)	6.4 (959)	3.5 (4)	
Hispanic	12.1 (1,201)	11.6 (1,731)	6.1 (7)	
Asian/Pacific Islander	8.8 (877)	8.6 (1,284)	7.9 (9)	
Multiracial/Biracial	6.9 (688)	8.2 (1,222)	22.8 (26)	
Other	3.8 (380)	2.9 (432)	5.8 (15)	
Non-Heterosexual	11.1 (1,103)	13.1 (1,954)	82.5 (94)	529.327***

The results also show that in comparison to male and female college students who have experienced victimization, victims who identify as transgender utilize services off campus at greater rates. As seen in Table 6, 40.7% of male victims, 58.8% of female victims, and 80.7% of transgender victims claimed to have used services off campus, indicating a higher percentage of victims using services off campus rather than on campus.

Results from bivariate analyses conducted for each of the control variables and gender among victims suggest all variables are significantly related to gender with the exception of whether or not victims identified as a member of a Greek organization. Of victims who identified as transgender, 71.1% reported being treated or diagnosed with at least one mental health issue in the past twelve months compared with 15.1% of male victims and 29.5% of female victims. Stated another way, among victims, those who identified as transgender were found to have 13.6 times the odds of males and 5.8 times the odds of females to report mental health issues.

Findings from the chi-square analyses for victims only between sexual orientation, the use of services, and all control variables can be found in Table 7. Results of the chi-square analysis for victims indicate a significant association between utilizing services (i.e. on and off campus) and sexual orientation. Of college students, 19.2% of heterosexual victims and 33.5% of non-heterosexual victims reported using services on campus. The results also show that in comparison to heterosexual college students who have experienced victimization, victims who identify as non-heterosexual utilize services off campus at greater rates. As seen in Table 7, 49.2% of heterosexual victims and 69.1% of non-heterosexual victims claimed to have used services off campus. Again, there was

a higher percentages of victims utilizing services off campus (40.9%) than services on campus (7.8%), with the chi-square test indicating significance at p< .05.

Results from bivariate analyses conducted for victims for each of the control variables and sexual orientation show mental health issues, drug use, the number of sexual partners, perceived safety on campus, Greek affiliation, and race were all significantly related to sexual orientation. Of victims who identified as non-heterosexual, 38.0% reported being diagnosed or treated for at least one mental health issue in the past

Table 7: Bivariate Analyses Examining Sexual Orientation (Restricted Sample-Victims					
Only N=25,004)	Heterosexual	Non-Heterosexual			
	Yes	Yes			
	% (N)	% (N)	X^2		
Use of Services					
On Campus	19.2 (4,194)	33.5 (1,055)	339.042***		
Off Campus	49.2 (10,746)	69.1 (2,176)	435.996***		
Mental Health Issues	19.2 (4,791)	38.0 (1,197)	390.198***		
Alcohol Use			8.370		
Don't Drink	24.6 (5,375)	25.6 (807)			
1-2 Days	16.0 (3,492)	16.6 (522)			
3-5 Days	17.4 (3,802)	18.1 (569)			
6-9 Days	18.6 (4,073)	16.7 (525)			
10+ Days	23.4 (5,111)	23.1 (728)			
Drug Use	30.3 (6,613)	37.0 (1,165)	57.877***		
Sexual Partners			153.370***		
None	19.3 (4,206)	17.0 (537)			
1 Partner	38.1 (8,330)	28.9 (909)			
2+ Partners	42.6 (9,317)	54.1 (1,705)			
Freshman	24.8 (5,417)	23.3 (735)	3.175		
Living On Campus	38.6 (8,434)	38.4 (1,211)	0.031		
Perceived Safety on Campus	77.4 (16,910)	75.8 (2,388)	3.979*		
Greek Affiliation	13.1 (2,863)	7.5 (235)	80.794***		
Race			161.656***		
White	63.5 (13,868)	58.1 (1,830)			
Black/African American	5.8 (1,269)	5.4 (170)			
Hispanic/Latino	11.7 (2,558)	12.1 (381)			
Asian/Pacific Islander	8.9 (1,942)	7.2 (228)			
Multiracial/Biracial	7.0 (1,525)	13.0 (411)			
Other	3.2 (691)	4.2 (131)			
		Note: *p < .05; **p <	01; ***p < .001		

twelve months compared to 19.5% of heterosexual college students. In addition, drug use was more common among non-heterosexual college student victims, and a greater percentage of non-heterosexual victims reported having two or more sexual partners. Heterosexual college student victims were more likely to perceive feeling safe (the students' perception based on if they felt safe on their campus), and to belong to a Greek organization than non-heterosexual college student victims. A greater percentage of non-heterosexual college student victims reported being non-White, with a greater percentage indicating being Hispanic/Latino or multiracial/biracial than heterosexual college student victims.

Multivariate Results

Multivariate binary logistic regression analyses were conducted in STATA 14 using robust standard errors.⁶ First, one model was run for each type of victimization (i.e. any type of victimization, non-sexual victimization, and sexual victimization) to examine what factors relate to victimization (shown in Table 8). As shown in column two, the odds of being victimized were greater for those who have used services both on and off campus. Those who used services on campus had odds 11% higher than those who did not of being victimized. The odds of being victimized were 39% higher for those who used services off campus. Females had significantly lower odds (0.668) of experiencing any types of victimization and students who identify as non-heterosexual had greater odds of experiencing any type of victimization when compared to students who identify as heterosexual. In fact, non-heterosexual students had odds of any victimization that are 25.8% greater than those for heterosexual students. The odds of

-

⁶ Results for multivariate models show no variance inflation factor was above 1.73, indicating no issues with multicollinearity.

victimization for students who have been diagnosed or treated for a mental health issue over the last twelve months were 32% higher than for those students without a mental health issue. Students of all races, with the exception of students who identified as Hispanic or Latino (not significant) and Asian or Pacific Islander (lower odds [.839]), had significantly higher odds of experiencing any type of victimization when compared to White students.

Demonstrated in column three, the odds of experiencing non-sexual victimization were greater for students who have used services off campus. Those who have used services off campus had odds 39% higher than those who did not of experiencing non-sexual victimization. Females had 0.515 lower odds of non-sexual victimization compared to males and the odds of victimization for non-heterosexual students compared to heterosexual students were 20.5% higher. Students who reported diagnosis or treatment for mental health issues have higher odds of nonsexual victimization than those without mental health issues. Alcohol use, drug use, and identifying as a freshman increased the odds a student will experience non-sexual victimization. Similar to any victimization, students of all races, with the exception of students who identified as Hispanic or Latino (not significant) and Asian or Pacific Islander (lower odds [.770]), had significantly higher odds of experiencing non-sexual victimization when compared to White students.

As shown in column four, the odds of being sexually victimized were greater for those who have used services both on- and off-campus. Those who used services on campus had odds 28% higher than those who did not of being sexually victimized. The odds of being sexually victimized were 24% higher for those who used services off

campus. Both females and transgender students had higher odds of sexual victimization when compared to males. The odds of being sexually victimized for females were 139% higher than the odds for males. Transgender students face odds of sexual victimization that were 247% greater when compared to male students. The odds of being sexually victimized were 55.7% higher for students who identify as non-heterosexual compared to heterosexual students. Students who have been diagnosed or treated for a mental health issue over the last twelve months had greater odds (1.332) of experiencing sexual victimization than students without mental health issues. Students of all races, with the exception of students who identified as Hispanic or Latino, had significantly higher odds of experiencing sexual victimization when compared to White students. All other risk and demographic variables (except for perceived safety on campus) were shown to increase the odds of sexual victimization. Feeling safe on campus reduced the odds of experiencing sexual victimization.

Table 9 shows the results from binary logistic regression models examining the potential factors related to using services on campus and off campus for victims. As shown in Table 9, female victims had odds of using services on campus that were 80.2% higher than male victims, while victims who identify as transgender had odds of using services on campus that were 66.5% higher than male victims. Victims who identified as non-heterosexual also had significantly higher odds of using services on campus. Non-heterosexual victims had odds of using services on campus that were 69.2% higher than heterosexual victims. Victims diagnosed or treated for a mental health issue had odds of using services on campus that were 4.928 times the odds of victims without mental health issues of using services on campus.

	Any Vi	Any Victimization		Non-Sexual Victimization		Sexual Victimization	
	Odds	C.I.	Odds	C.I.	Odds	C.I.	
Utilized Services							
On Campus $(Yes=1)$	1.118***	1.070-1.167	1.045	0.997-1.094	1.286***	1.204-1.374	
Off Campus (Yes=1)	1.389***	1.340-1.438	1.398***	1.346-1.451	1.242***	1.169-1.319	
Gender (Male Ref)							
Female	0.668***	0.647-0.690	0.515***	0.498-0.532	2.394***	2.247-2.551	
Transgender	1.249	0.976-1.599	0.972	0.750-1.259	3.473***	2.555-4.721	
Sexual Orientation (Non-Heterosexual=1)	1.258***	1.198-1.322	1.205***	1.144-1.270	1.557***	1.448-1.673	
Mental Health (Yes=1)	1.324***	1.269-1.380	1.362***	1.303-1.423	1.332***	1.249-1.420	
Alcohol Use (Don't Drink Ref)							
1-2 Days	1.140***	1.088-1.194	1.085***	1.033-1.141	1.187***	1.093-1.289	
3-5 Days	1.209***	1.153-1.268	1.126***	1.070-1.184	1.306***	1.202-1.419	
6-9 Days	1.305***	1.242-1.372	1.200***	1.138-1.263	1.443***	1.326-1.571	
10+ Days	1.526***	1.453-1.603	1.461***	1.388-1.538	1.522***	1.397-1.659	
Drug Use (Yes=1)	1.541***	1.485-1.600	1.515***	1.457-1.575	1.478***	1.393-1.569	
Sexual Partners (None Ref)							
1 Partner	1.202***	1.154-1.253	1.224***	1.172-1.278	1.098*	1.015-1.186	
2+ Partners	2.537***	2.428-2.651	2.278***	2.174-2.387	3.259***	3.013-3.525	
Freshman (Yes=1)	1.305***	1.256-1.357	1.272***	1.221-1.325	1.289***	1.211-1.372	
Living On Campus (On Campus=1)	1.088***	1.052-1.125	1.003	0.968-1.040	1.422***	1.346-1.503	
Perceived Safety on Campus (Yes=1)	0.673***	0.649-0.698	0.651***	0.627-0.677	0.699***	0.660-0.741	
Greek Affiliation (Yes=1)	1.166***	1.111-1.222	1.158***	1.101-1.217	1.134***	1.052-1.222	
Race (White Ref)							
Black/African American	1.181***	1.106-1.262	1.186***	1.107-1.271	1.158**	1.038-1.290	
Hispanic/Latino	0.996	0.950-1.045	0.999	0.951-1.051	1.002	0.923-1.088	
Asian/Pacific Islander	0.839***	0.797-0.884	0.770***	0.728-0.814	1.232***	1.132-1.341	
Multiracial/Biracial	1.324***	1.278-1.439	1.335***	1.254-1.420	1.451***	1.324-1.590	
Other	1.324***	1.215-1.442	1.354***	1.239-1.479	1.288***	1.111-1.493	
Constant	0.	181***	0.202***		0.012***		
WaldChi ²	89	901.02	7785.99		5598.16		
Pseudo R ²	(0.079		0.075	().106	

Victims who used alcohol and drugs had significantly higher odds of using services on campus when compared to victims who did not drink or use drugs. Victims who are freshmen in college had significantly lower odds of using services on campus (63.4% lower) when compared to students in any other year in school. Also, victims living on campus had significantly greater odds of utilizing services on campus than victims who did not live on campus. Some racial differences also emerged in predicting using services on campus. Victims in the other racial category had 1.293 higher odds of using services on campus compared to White victims.

	Use of Services On Use of Services Off					
	Campus		Campus			
	Odds	C.I.	Odds	C.I.		
Gender (Male Ref)		•				
Female	1.802***	1.674-1.940	1.794***	1.693-1.902		
Transgender	1.665*	1.069-2.593	1.391	0.786-2.462		
Sexual Orientation (Non-	1.692***	1.544-1.855	1.872***	1.710-2.048		
Heterosexual=1)						
Mental Health (Yes=1)	4.928***	4.594-5.287	10.098***	9.264-11.009		
Alcohol Use (Don't Drink Ref)						
1-2 Days	1.157**	1.037-1.292	1.050	0.958-1.150		
3-5 Days	1.205***	1.080-1.345	1.003	0.917-1.098		
6-9 Days	1.152*	1.030-1.288	0.954	0.870-1.047		
10+ Days	1.162**	1.041-1.297	0.957	0.873-1.048		
Drug Use (Yes=1)	1.107**	1.025-1.195	1.196***	1.120-1.278		
Sexual Partners (None Ref)						
1 Partner	0.987	0.894-1.090	1.284***	1.184-1.392		
2+ Partners	1.079	0.977-1.192	1.326***	1.221-1.441		
Freshman (Yes=1)	0.366***	0.334-0.401	0.848***	0.791-0.910		
Living on Campus (On Campus=1)	1.686***	1.568-1.813	0.943	0.886-1.004		
Perceived Safety on Campus	1.069	0.987-1.157	1.072*	1.000-1.149		
(Yes=1)						
Greek Affiliation (Yes=1)	1.065	0.963-1.178	1.005	0.922-1.095		
Race (White Ref)						
Black/African American	1.047	0.903-1.213	0.659***	0.583-0.746		
Hispanic/Latino	1.072	0.960-1.198	0.806***	0.738-0.881		
Asian/Pacific Islander	1.111	0.981-1.258	0.611***	0.551-0.677		
Multiracial/Biracial	1.116	1.074-1.555	1.068	0.959-1.190		
Other	1.293**	0.984-1.265	1.022	0.869-1.202		
Constant	0.075***		0.382***			
WaldChi ²	31	12.13	3729.47			
Pseudo R ²	C	0.138).164		

Table 9 also shows the results examining the factors that predict using services off campus. Female victims had odds of using off campus services that were 79.4% higher than male victims. Victims who identified as non-heterosexual also had significantly higher odds of using services off campus. Non-heterosexual victims had odds of using services off campus that were 87.2% higher than heterosexual victims. Victims diagnosed or treated for some mental health issue had odds of using services off campus that were 10.098 times the odds of victims without mental health issues of using services off campus. Victims who reported they used drugs had significantly higher odds of using services off campus when compared to victims who did not. Victims with only one sexual partner had 28.4% higher odds of using services off campus and victims who had two or more sexual partners had 32.6% higher odds of using services off campus when compared to those with zero sexual partners. Victims who are freshman in college had odds of using services off campus that were 15.2% lower when compared to students in any other year in school. Racial differences also emerged for the use of services off campus. Victims who identified as Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, and Asian or Pacific Islander all had lower odds of using services off campus when compared to White victims. Black or African American victims had odds that are 34.1% lower, Hispanic or Latino victims had odds that are 19.4% lower, and Asian or Pacific Islander's had odds that are 38.9% lower of using services off campus.

According to the findings of this study, non-heterosexual and transgender college students are more likely to face victimization than their heterosexual and gender conforming counterparts. While non-heterosexual students are more likely to face non-sexual and sexual victimization, transgender students are more likely to face sexual

victimization. Similarly, non-heterosexual and transgender victims are more likely to utilize services than heterosexual victims and male and female victims. The high number of victims who identify as non-heterosexual and transgender who are also utilizing services suggests that services offered need to be suited to all types of victims. The next chapter will discuss the implications of these findings in detail, note limitations of the current study, and provide suggestions for policy and future research.

CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Based on the results of the current study, non-heterosexual and transgender college students are more likely to face victimization than their heterosexual and gender conforming counterparts. Similarly, non-heterosexual and transgender victims are more likely to utilize services on campus, yet only non-heterosexual victims were more likely to utilize services off campus when compared to heterosexual victims and male and female victims. In turn, the large number of victims who identify as non-heterosexual and transgender who are also utilizing services both on and off campus suggests that services offered need to be suited to all types of victims. The current study yielded a number of findings to support this conclusion.

First, college students who identify as non-heterosexual were more likely to experience both non-sexual victimization (26.4%) and sexual victimization (11.7%) when compared to heterosexual college students. This finding is consistent with other studies that have found higher victimization rates for individuals who identify as gay, lesbian, bisexual, or queer (Augelli, Grossman, & Starks, 2006; Faulkner & Cranston, 1998). Furthermore, college students who identify as transgender are more likely to face sexual victimization when compared to male students (20.8% versus 3.6%). This finding is also consistent with the few studies that have included transgender individuals and found that they face greater rates of sexual victimization, even more so than females (Johnson et al., 2016). The high rates of victimization among non-heterosexual and transgender college students implies that, in general, victim service accessibility both on and off campus is important. Minority stress theory supports this assertion in that it suggests there are high rates of victimization for non-heterosexual and transgender people that stem from unique

stressors (i.e. discrimination, internalized homophobia, and fear). If the processes through which non-heterosexual and transgender people are victimized works through these risk factors, they are targets for change that could reduce victimization risk. Also, the current study investigates both sexual and non-sexual victimization when examining sexual orientation whereas most previous studies focused only on sexual victimization (Johnson, et al., 2016; Murchison, Boyd, & Pachankis, 2017). This study found that non-heterosexual students also experience higher odds of non-sexual assault victimization compared to heterosexual students. This finding indicates the need for future researchers to expand the types of victimization examined and for services that can adequately address non-sexual victimization as well.

Second, findings regarding the use of services suggest college students who face any type of victimization are more likely to use services on campus as well as off campus through other providers; however, the majority of students who reported using services did so off campus, regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity. There could be a number of reasons why this might be the case. Research has suggested a high level of stigma attached to individuals who struggle with mental health issues (Eisenberg, Downs, Golberstein, & Zivin, 2009). Thus, it could be that students feel more comfortable receiving services off campus due to the possibility of their treatment becoming known to other students and faculty, even with current privacy laws. On the other hand, it could be that services are not adequately meeting the needs of students and victims, much less for students and victims within the LGBT community. Unfortunately, neither of these implications can be investigated in the current study as the data do not allow for investigation into these areas. Additionally, family income levels and whether or not

students had insurance were also unable to be studied with these data. These both could affect whether they seek services at all, and whether they utilize on-campus services (often cheaper or free for students) or more expensive private services—although there are free community service options that students may access as well. Future research should explore the reasons behind service utilization, especially college students' use of services off-campus.

Third, of those college students who are victimized, victims who identify as non-heterosexual or transgender utilize services at higher rates when compared to other college student victims both on- and off campus. More specifically, victims who identified as non-heterosexual were more likely than heterosexual victims to use services. It should be noted, however, victims who identified as transgender were only significantly more likely to use services on campus when compared to male victims. Importantly, this differential use of services was found even after controlling for mental health.

The finding that transgender students were more likely to use services on campus may seem surprising; however, when the context in which colleges are located is considered, it is more understandable. Specifically, small college towns are often conservative while the universities located in them are more liberal. Most colleges also attempt to recruit a diverse student body (Antonio, 2003; Hu & Kuh, 2003). Thus, the student body is often not representative of the town in which the college or university is located. This possibility is in line with minority stress theory (Meyer, 2003) in that minorities are more likely to have increased stress due to their minority status and may see using services off campus as stressful. Challenges with increased victimization and

the lack of formal reporting to law enforcement (Mallory, Hasenbush, & Sears, 2015) among non-heterosexual and transgender individuals emphasizes the need for accessibility to culturally-sensitive victim services, not only within the criminal justice system, but also within medical and social service communities. The inability to receive or access services and support could potentially lead to increased numbers of victims in this community. Establishing services that are culturally diverse could create a better platform for victims to report incidences of victimization through formal and informal processes, potentially lowering victimization and on-going victimization rates, and lowering participation in risky lifestyle behaviors (i.e. alcohol use, drug use, and risky sexual behaviors).

Fourth, students who were diagnosed or treated with at least one mental health issue were much more likely to be victimized in any way when compared to students without a mental health issue. Additionally, victims who also were diagnosed or treated for a mental health issue were also more likely to use services on and off campus, but more likely to use services off campus. Again, this finding raises issues about the stigma of mental health and accessibility of services on campus, as well as the adequacy of service providers (Acevedo-Polakivich, et al., 2001; Seelman, et al., 2017; Veltman & Chaimowitz, 2014). The accessibility and adequacy of services for victims who deal with mental health issues and identify as non-heterosexual or transgender should be examined more fully in the future. It cannot be known at this time if service providers are helpful for sexual and gender minorities or if the services provided inadvertently increase the chances that non-heterosexual and transgender students will seek services off campus.

Fifth, a number of control variables were significantly related to victimization and the use of services. The use of alcohol, drug use, higher numbers of sexual partners, freshman status, and Greek affiliation all increased the odds of experiencing victimization. The increase in odds of victimization from the use of alcohol, drug use, risky sexual behaviors, and being a freshman in college are all consistent with previous studies, including those with students who identify as non-heterosexual and transgender (Burgard, et al., 2005; Meyer, 2003). Previous research findings surrounding Greek affiliations are more equivocal. Some studies show that being a Greek member acts as a protective factor, lowering one's risk for victimization (Kalof & Cargill, 1991) and some show no significant relationship between being Greek and the risk of victimization (Johnson, Daigle, & Napper, 2017). Other studies, however, suggest Greek membership does increase the risk for victimization (Lasky, Fisher, Henriksen & Swan, 2017; Scott-Sheldon, Carey, & Carey, 2008). In the current study, Greek membership increased the risk for all types of victimization among college students. The mixed results concerning Greek affiliation could be the result of not clearly defining traditional fraternities and sororities versus professional fraternities. Both types are considered to be Greek but have very different ways of operating on college campuses (Kalof & Cargill, 1991). Victimization risk on college campuses is often correlated with the use of alcohol and the partying scene surrounding traditional fraternities on college campuses (Sweeney, 2011). Unfortunately, the current data do not allow for examining this distinction among Greeks.

Considered together, the increase in victimization as a consequence of participation in risky behaviors is consistent with Hindelang and colleagues' (1978) lifestyle-exposure theory in which they emphasize exposure to high risk activities, places,

and individuals for increasing risk of victimization. Also, college students who may be experiencing minority stress are more likely to participate in risky lifestyle behaviors leading to increased risk for victimization among minority groups (Meyer, 2003). Colleges may want to target groups such as non-heterosexual and transgender students, freshman, and Greek members for programming that targets practicing safe partying behaviors as doing so can potentially reduce the risk of victimization (Daigle, Johnson, Napper, & Azimi, 2016; Johnson, Daigle, & Napper, 2017).

When examining the use of services among college students who had been victimized, participating in drug use led to greater odds of students using services both on and off campus. For college freshman, the odds of using services either on or off campus were significantly lower than for students in any other year in school. This finding could indicate that freshmen college students are choosing not to use services, or are not aware that services exist that can help them and potentially help lower their risk for victimization or ameliorate the consequences of victimization. Students who engaged in alcohol use were significantly more likely to use the services available on campus, whereas students who engaged in risky sexual practices were significantly more likely to use services offered off campus rather than on campus. This difference could be a result of stigma attached to certain behaviors that are seen as more acceptable among college students. Alcohol use is prominent on most college campuses (Lasky, Fisher, Henriksen & Swan, 2017); therefore, it may be seen as more acceptable to receive services following consequences of its use. It may not be the case that students feel comfortable seeking assistance after engaging in risky sexual practices.

It is also important to note racial differences in the use of services for victims. Student victims who identified as Black or African American, Hispanic or Latino, and Asian or Pacific Islander had significantly lower odds of utilizing services off campus when compared to White students. This difference may imply that receiving services is frowned upon within certain cultures or that Black and Hispanic students especially, are more likely to come from lower-income families. It would follow they would be less likely to have health insurance and thus less likely to use off-campus services or at least paid service providers. Previous research emphasizes much higher rates of services utilization among Whites (Rosenstock, 2005), even though past research has also shown racial minorities experience more victimization when compared to White people (Baum & Klaus, 2005). Although more research is needed, if there are racial differences in service utilization, college campuses should ensure services that are offered on campus are culturally diverse and capable of handling differing groups, including non-heterosexual and transgender students who may share dual minority status as well.

Although many control variables used in the current study were significant, they did not render sexual orientation or transgender insignificant in their relationship with victimization and use of services. This lack of insignificance suggests that there are other factors that must explain why non-heterosexual and transgender individuals are experiencing high rates of victimization. If included, some of the factors described by Meyer (2003) (i.e. discrimination, internalized homophobia, and fear) may have been related to victimization and/or fully mediated the relationship between sexual and gender minority status and victimization. Future research should include variables that can fully test minority stress theory.

Overall, the current study is an important addition to the current research on victimization of non-heterosexual and transgender college students and their use of victims' services both on and off campus. More research on non-heterosexual and transgender victimization risk, use of services, and whether those services are adequate is needed to draw conclusions about the nature and extent of victimization and service utilization. However, given the significantly higher odds of victimization and service utilization among non-heterosexual and transgender college students found in the current study, there does appear to be a need for specialized formal and informal services and resources for this minority group.

Limitations

Although the findings from the current study are valuable in adding to the current literature on victimization and the use of services among victims, especially among nonheterosexual and transgender college students, there are limitations to the study that should be addressed. First, this study utilizes cross-sectional data such that time order cannot be accounted for (Leiberson, 1985). The inability to determine time order can be problematic when interpreting results for mental health issues, alcohol use, drug use, and risky sexual behavior as it is uncertain that these risk factors occurred before a victimization. Similarly, these risk factors could have emerged after using services both on and off campuses. For example, a student may have utilized counseling services on campus to help reduce anxiety stemming from an increased workload and experienced some form of victimization later on. These two incidents may or may not be related, but any possible relationship cannot be determined with cross-sectional data. Nonetheless, it is highly unlikely that sexual orientation or gender is influenced by any of the control

variables included in the models. Thus, even with cross-sectional data, the main findings regarding sexual orientation and gender and victimization and use of services are likely not spurious.

Another limitation is the use of self-report surveys. As with all self-report data, the extent of under/over reporting cannot be determined. In addition, this study's findings cannot be generalized to the general population, as it only examines students attending colleges and universities that self-selected to participate. Schools are not chosen at random. Even so, the data are from a national sample and random or total sampling procedures were used to identify participants. Given the limitations of the data, the results cannot be safely generalized to the population of students attending institutions of higher learning.

Third, this study lacks the ability to fully test Meyer's (2003) minority stress theory. While minority stress theory could help explain the increased risk for victimization among sexual and gender minority college students and the increased use of services, these data do not account for factors that Meyer (2003) suggest are essential (i.e. discrimination, internalized homophobia, and fear) to understanding the increased risk of victimization for these groups. As such, it is possible that other factors not included in the data could help explain the difference in victimization, and ultimately the use of services.

Fourth, although students are asked whether they have used services on and off campus, they are not asked about the full range of service options available or the experience students have using these services. Further, the data do not detail the frequency students use services or if students are satisfied with the services they receive.

Not knowing how often services are used or how the services are viewed leaves the possibility that, even if using services, they are not adequately addressing the needs of non-heterosexual and transgender victims. Knowing how services are used is important because receiving services that meet one's needs can make a difference in participation in risky behaviors, continued negative outcomes from mental health issues, and future victimization.

In the future, data collection would benefit from including reasons students seek services on campus, rather than just from whom they sought services. Including these reasons could shed light on the services students are seeking the most and make prevention efforts on campus more effective. For example, knowing if students are seeking services surrounding mental health issues, sexual assaults, intervention in intimate partner violence situations, safe sex practices, or addiction to alcohol or drugs would show which areas students are concerned with the most. Services could then be expanded to meet these needs. The more targeted the intervention, the better chance campuses have at lowering risk for participation in risky behaviors and their risk for victimization. Further, knowing how services are being perceived can help institutions improve their services, which may in turn reduce victimization and improve the mental health of students and victims.

Policy Implications

The results of the current study have various policy implications with respect to victimization and the use of services among non-heterosexual and transgender college students. First, the increased odds of victimization and the use of services among college students who identify as non-heterosexual and transgender suggest that polices should

ensure services are in place for all college students and that students are made aware of the differing services offered to them. In addition, prevention programs and services should be designed to reduce victimization among non-heterosexual and transgender students. This design could include providing, upon request, service providers who indicate they are LGBT and/or LGBT friendly so that LGBT victims may feel more comfortable, similar to offering female service providers for female victims. Also, specialized training for service providers is needed to adequately address risk factors that are unique to LGBT such as internalized homophobia and increased fear around interactions with others. According to Meyer (2003), LGBT individuals' lack of a social support system heightens these risk factors, so universities should also consider adding LGBQT resource centers to their campuses. Further, awareness of services, especially those offered on campus should be strengthened as this is key to students utilizing services, especially on campus. In addition, evaluations of current services should be conducted on a regular basis to determine if they are meeting the needs of all students. All universities receiving federal funds are required through the Clery Act, (20 USC § 1092) to provide prevention efforts and services to students, but those efforts are not uniform across all universities and colleges, so evaluating them is necessary and should be required. It is not enough to just offer services, we also should ensure they are effective. One way to potentially increase the likelihood that services are effective would be to introduce cultural competency training among school personnel, staff, and faculty as well as service providers. Doing so could be a step towards alleviating some of the fear and discomfort felt by non-heterosexual and transgender students when interacting with victim service providers (Lambda Legal, 2016).

Finally, because having a mental health issue and alcohol use were also significantly related to all types of victimization, policy and services should address these concerns for all students, but especially for students who have experienced victimization as they are especially at risk of developing mental health issues. These two characteristics of college students are important to policy because these are factors that can be affected by adequate services and service providers. Sometimes drinking can be used as a coping mechanism for dealing with victimization (i.e. anxiety, depression, and suicidal ideation) but also used to self-medicate for mental health issues. In this case, policies should encourage more prevention and intervention efforts that specifically deal with mental health issues and increased alcohol use.

For mental health programs offered on college campuses, effectiveness is a concern. Some students claim there is a lack of availability which keeps them from getting the help they need (Mowbray, et al., 2006). Universities and colleges are often caught between conflicting demands of the increased number of students with mental health problems and limited resources to meet the needs of the students. Currently, the lack of adequate mental health service seems to compromise the success of these programs. Some concerns focus on the lack of training for service providers. Limited hours result in long waiting periods for students and due to the demand for mental health service, leads to incomplete evaluations as providers do not have enough time to devote to individual cases (Mowbray, et al., 2006). Similarly, programs used to reduce alcohol use among college students also face challenges. According to a study conducted by Weschsler and colleagues (2003), even among universities that adopt alcohol reduction programs, no decreases in alcohol use among college students were found even when

exposure to the program and length of program was considered. From the current study, non-heterosexual and transgender college students should be a particular focus of this programming. Since their odds of facing victimization and mental health issues are greater than for heterosexual and gender conforming students, this group may be the most impacted by these changes.

This programming may need to be provided on campus, given that student victims (regardless of sexual orientation or gender identity) have higher odds of using services off campus. Therefore, additional focus should be on providing support for victims on campus. When students are referred to services off campus, some issues may arise. For example, students may choose not to follow up with outside services. The most common problem resulting from using off campus services is the cost (Mowbray et al., 2006). Affordability is a real concern for many college students as the cost of treatment can be high and few programs are offered at low cost or free of charge. Many college students have limited or no insurance to help cover the cost of treatment or medications, leaving them with very few options other than campus services (Mowbray et al., 2006). It is important that policies address these issues surrounding services as these issues likely create a barrier between college students and the services they may need.

Directions for Future Research

The current study's findings should be used to develop further research that assesses the experience of non-heterosexual and transgender college students and victims. Further, the use of services by college students and the effectiveness of those services needs additional research. The use of services specifically by gender and sexual minorities and how their risk and needs may be different than heterosexual and gender

conforming students is also important to examine. Due to the limitations of crosssectional data discussed above, future research should seek to better understand if risky
behaviors are engaged in prior to victimization or if students engage in them in response
to victimization. Longitudinal data will allow for the assumption of time order and
causality (Leiberson, 1985), which could provide a more complete understanding of the
process by which college students, especially non-heterosexual and gender nonconforming students, are victimized and use services. Within such an examination, a
more full evaluation of minority stress theory could be performed. Perhaps including
additional minority stress measures (i.e. discrimination, internalized homophobia, and
fear) would result in a clearer understanding of the risk factors for victimization among
non-heterosexual and transgender college students. If these factors are related, it would
suggest the need for victim service providers to have cultural sensitivity training and to
incorporate these risk factors into prevention programming.

Furthermore, satisfaction of services offered and of service providers should be examined. It would be interesting to learn if victim satisfaction with services or satisfaction with service providers has an effect on victimization and mental health as well as how it relates to future experiences. That is, if students are receiving adequate support and treatment from service providers, does this lessen their risk for victimization and the effects of mental health consequences? Taking all of the findings and limitations into consideration, the current study adds to the literature regarding non-heterosexual and transgender college students and their risk for victimization as well as their use of services both on and off campus. As shown in the current study, victimization rates are generally high among this small community and the use of services are very high, which

suggests that services offered to victims could have a significant impact on victimization and mental health outcomes. This impact would only be positive if service providers are equipped to handle a diverse range of victims from differing backgrounds.

REFERENCES

- Aberson, C., Swan, D. J., Emerson, E. P. (1999). Covert discrimination against gay men by U.S. college students. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *139*, 323-334.
- Acevedo-Polakovich, I. D., Bell, B., Gamache, P., & Christian, A. S. (2011). Service accessibility for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning youth. *Youth & Society*, 45, 75-97.
- American College Health Association. ACHA-NCHA II. (Spring2013). Reference group executive summary (2014). Available at http://www.acha-ncha.org/ (accessed June, 2016).
- Amstadter A. B., Zinzow H. M., McCauley J. L., Strachan M., Ruggiero K. J., Resnick H. S., Kilpatrick D. G. (2010). Prevalence and correlates of service utilization and help seeking in a national college sample of female rape victims. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 24, 900–902.
- Anderson, J. P., Hughes, T. L., Zou, C., & Wilsnack, S. C. (2014). Lifetime victimization and physical health outcomes among lesbian and heterosexual women. *PLoS ONE*, *9*, 1-9.
- Anguita, L. A. (2011). Tackling corrective rape in South Africa: The engagement between the LGBT CSOs and the NHRIs (CGE and SAHRC) and its role. *International Journal of Human Rights*, *16*, 489–516.
- Antonio, A. L. (2003). Diverse student bodies, diverse faculties. Academe, 89, 14.
- Ard, K., & Makadon, H. (2011). Addressing intimate partner violence in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender patients. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 26, 930-933
- Badertscher, N. (2015). South Carolina, Georgia, 3 other states don't have hate crimes laws. Politifact, In partnership with the Atlanta Journal Constitution. Retrieved from http://www.politifact.com/georgia/statements/2015/jul/01/various-media-reports/south-carolina-georgia-3-other-states-dont-have-ha/
- Balcells, L. (2012). The consequences of victimization on political identities: Evidence from Spain. *Politics & Society*, 40, 311-347.
- Banyard, V. L., Ward, S., Cohn, E. S., Plante, E. G., Moorhead, C., & Walsh, W. (2007). Unwanted sexual contact on campus: A comparison of women's and men's experiences. *Violence and victims*, 22, 52-70.
- Bauer-Wolf, J. (2018, January 17). Queer student counseling. *Inside Higher Ed*, Retrieved from https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2018/01/17/report-lgbtq-students-enroll-long-term-counseling-services-most?utm_source=Inside+Higher+Ed&utm_campaign=b26c666c81-DNU20180111&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_1fcbc04421-b26c666c81-197488681&mc_cid=b26c666c81&mc_eid=4384fa3596
- Baum, K., & Klaus, P. (2005). Violent victimization of college students, 1995-2002. Bureau of Justice Statistics (NCVS). Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/vvcs02.pdf
- Berrill, K. T. (1990). Anti-gay violence and victimization in the United States: An overview. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *5*, 274-294.

- Berrill, K. T. (1992). Anti-gay violence and victimization in the United States: An overview. In G. M. Herek & K. T. Berrill (Eds.), Hate crimes: Confronting violence against lesbians and gay men (pp. 19–45). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Bimber, T. (2014). Optimizing emergency department throughput with improved triage processes. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10755/324173
- Blumenfeld, W. J. (2012). LGBTQ campus climate: The good and the still very bad. Association of American Colleges & Universities, 15, Retrieved from https://www.aacu.org/publications-research/periodicals/lgbtq-campus-climate-good-and-still-very-bad
- Bolton, S. L., & Sareen, J. (2011). Sexual orientation and its relation to mental disorders and suicide attempts: Findings from a nationally representative sample. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 56, 35-43.
- Bouffard, L. A., & Koeppel, M. D. (2014). Understanding the potential long-term physical and mental health consequences of early experiences of victimization. *Justice Quarterly*, *31*, 568-587.
- Breslau, N., Davis, G. C., Peterson, E. L., & Schultz, L. R. (2000). A second look at comorbidity in victims of trauma: The posttraumatic stress disorder—major depression connection. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48, 902-909.
- Brewster, M. E., Moradi, B., Deblaere, C., & Velez, B. L. (2013). Navigating the borderlands: The roles of minority stressors, bicultural self-efficacy, and cognitive flexibility in the mental health of bisexual individuals. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60, 543–556.
- Briones-Robinson, R., Powers, R. A., & Socia, K. M. (2016). Sexual orientation bias crimes: Examination of reporting, perception of police bias, and differential police response. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *43*, 1688-1709.
- Brown, R. (2012). Corrective rape in South Africa: A continuing plight despite an international human rights response. *Annual Survey of International & Comparative Law*, 18, 45.
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2017). *Criminal Victimization*, 2016. Retrieved from http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=6166
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2012). *Nearly 3.4 Million Violent Crimes per Year went Unreported to Police from 2006 to 2010*. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/press/vnrp 0610pr. cfm
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2005). *Violent Victimization of College Students*, 1995-2002. Retrieved from http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=593
- Burgard, S. A., Cochran, S. D., & Mays, V. M. (2005). Alcohol and tobacco use patterns among heterosexually and homosexually experienced California women. *Drug Alcohol Dependency*, 77, 61-70.
- Burke, L. K., & Follingstad, D. R. (1999). Violence in lesbian and gay relationships: Theory, prevalence, and correlational factors. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 19, 487–512.
- Campbell, R., & Martin, P. Y. (2001). Services for sexual assault survivors. *Sourcebook on violence against women*, 227-246.

- Center for Collegiate Mental Health (CCMH). (2016). Annual Report. Retrieved from https://sites.psu.edu/ccmh/files/2017/01/2016-Annual-Report-FINAL_2016_01_09-1gc2hj6.pdf
- Clements-Nolle, K., Marx, R., & Katz, M. (2006). Attempted suicide among transgender persons: The influence of gender-based discrimination and victimization. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *51*, 53-69.
- Cniro, D., Surko, M., Bhandarkar, K., Helfgott, N., Peake, K., & Epstein, I. (2005). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, sexual orientation questioning adolescents seeking mental health services: Risk factors, worries, and desire to talk about them. *Social Work in Mental Health*, *3*, 213-234.
- Cochran, S. D., & Mays, V. M. (1994). Depressive distress among homosexually active African American men and women, *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151, 524-529.
- Cochran, S. D., & Mays, V. M. (2000). Lifetime prevalence of suicide symptoms and affective disorders among men reporting same-sex sexual partners: Results from NHANES III. *American Journal of Public Health*, 90, 573-578.
- Cochran, S.D., Mays, V. M., Alegria, M., Ortega, A. N., & Takeuchi, D. (2007). Mental health and substance use disorders among Latino and Asian American lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75, 785-94.
- Cochran, S. D., Mays, V. M., & Sullivan, J. G. (2003). Prevalence of mental disorders, psychological distress, and mental health services use among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71, 53-61.
- Cochran, B. N., Stewart, A. J., Ginzler, J. A., & Cauce, A. M. (2002). Challenges faced by homeless sexual minorities: Comparison of gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender homeless adolescents with their heterosexual counterparts. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92, 773–777.
- Cohen, L. E., & Felson, M. (1979). Social change and crime rate trends: A routine activity approach. *American Sociological Review*, 44, 588-608.
- Cramer, R. J., Burks, A. C., Stroud, C. H., Bryson, C. N., & Graham, J. (2015). A moderated mediation analysis of suicide proneness among lesbian, gay, and bisexual community members. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *34*, 622–642.
- Cramer, R. J., McNiel, D. E., Holley, S. R., Shumway, M., & Boccellari, A. (2011). Mental health in violent crime victims: Does sexual orientation matter? *Law and Human Behavior*, *36*, 87–95.
- Daigle, L. E. (2013). Victimology: The essentials. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- D'Augelli, A. R. (1992). Lesbian and gay make undergraduates' experiences of harassment and fear on campus. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 7, 383-395.
- D'Augelli, A. R., Grossman, A. H., & Starks, M.T. (2006). Childhood atypicality, victimization, and PTSD among lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21, 1462-1482.
- D'Augelli, A. R., Hershberger, S. L., & Pilkington, N. W. (1998). Lesbian, gay, & bisexual youth & their families: Disclosure of same sex attraction & its consequences. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 68, 361–371.

- Davis, J. A., Smith, T. W., & Marsden, P. V. (2010). General social surveys, 1972–2008. Interuniversity Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR).
- DeLonga, K., Torres, H. L., Kamen, C., Evans, S. N., Lee, S., Koopman, C., & Gore-Felton, C. (2011). Loneliness, internalized homophobia, and compulsive internet use: Factors associated with sexual risk behavior among a sample of adolescent males seeking services at a community LGBT center. *Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity*, 18, 61-74.
- De Vaus, D. (2002). Analyzing social science data: 50 key problems in data analysis. Sage.
- Donatone, B., & Rachlin, K. (2013). An intake template for transgender, transsexual, genderqueer, gender nonconforming, and gender variant college students seeking mental health services. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 27, 200-211.
- Drabble, L., Trocki, K. F., Hughes, T. L., Korcha, R. A., & Lown, A. E. (2013). Sexual orientation differences in the relationship between victimization and hazardous drinking among women in the National Alcohol Survey. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 27, 639–648.
- Duncan, D. F. (1990). Prevalence of sexual assault victimization among heterosexual and gay/lesbian university students. *Psychological Reports*, 66, 65-66.
- Duncan, D. T., & Hatzenbuehler, M.L. (2014). Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender hate crimes and suicidality among a population-based sample of sexual-minority adolescents in Boston. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104, 272-278.
- Duong, J., & Bradshaw, C. (2014). Associations between bullying and engaging in aggressive and suicidal behaviors among sexual minority youth: The moderating role of connectedness. *Journal of school health*, 84, 636-645.
- Durso, L. E., & Gates, G. J. (2012). Serving our youth: Findings from a national survey of service providers working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. Los Angeles, CA: The Williams Institute with True Colors Fund and The Palette Fund. Retrieved from http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/research/safe-schools-and-youth/serving-our-youth-july-2012/
- Ebersole, R. C., Noble, J. J., & Madson, M. B. (2012). Drinking motives, negative consequences, and protective behavioral strategies in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender college students. *Journal of LGBT Issues in Counseling*, 6, 337-352.
- Edwards, K. M., Sylaska, K. M., Barry, J. E., Moynihan, M. M., Banyard, V. L., Cohn, E. S., et al. (2015). Physical dating violence, sexual violence, and unwanted pursuit victimization: A comparison of incidence rates among sexual minority and heterosexual college students. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *30*, 580-600.
- Eisenberg, D., Downs, M. F., Golberstein, E., & Zivin, K. (2009). Stigma and help seeking for mental health among college students. *Medical Care Research and Review*, 66, 522-541.
- Elliot, P. (1996). Shattering illusions: Same-sex domestic violence. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Social Services*, 4, 1-8.
- Espelage, D., Aragon, S. R., Birkett, M., & Koenig, B. W. (2008). Homophobic teasing, psychological outcomes, and sexual orientation among high school students: What influence do parents and schools have? *School Psychology Review*, *37*, 202-217.

- Evans, N. J., & D'Augelli, A. R. (1996). Lesbians, gay men, and bisexual people in college. In R. C. Savin-Williams & K. M. Cohen (Eds.), The lives of lesbians, gays, and bisexuals: Children to adults (pp. 201-206). Orlando: Harcourt Brace & Company.
- Faulkner, A., & Cranston, K. (1998). Correlates of the same sex sexual behavior in a random sample of Massachusetts high school students. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88, 262-266.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2016). Hate Crime Statistics. Uniform Crime Reports. Retrieved from https://ucr.fbi.gov/hate-crime/2016
- Fehler-Cabral, G., Campbell, R., & Patterson, D. (2011). Adult sexual assault survivors' experiences with sexual assault nurse examiners (SANEs). *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26, 3618-3639.
- Felix, S., Hoyle, J., Posick, C., Miller, B. L., & Stogner, J. (2015). Deconstructing the LGBT victimization association: The case of sexual assault and alcohol-related problems. *Journal of Family Strengths*, *15*, Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/jfs/vol15/iss1/3
- Feminist Majority Foundation. (2014). Domestic violence resources. Retrieved from http://www.feminist.org/other/dv/dvfact.html
- Fisher, B., Cullen, F. T., & Turner, M. G. (1999). *The Extent and Nature of the Sexual Victimization of College Women: A National Level Analysis* (p. 323). Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Fisher, B. S., Daigle, L. E., Cullen, F. T., & Turner, M. G. (2003). Reporting sexual victimization to the police and others: Results from a national-level study of college women. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *30*, 6-38.
- Fisher, B. S., Sloan, J. J., & Lu, C. (1998). Crime in the ivory tower: The level and sources of student victimization. *Criminology*, *36*, 671-710.
- Frazier, P. A., & Burnett, J. W. (1994). Immediate coping strategies among rape victims. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 72, 633-639.
- Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I., Kim, H. J., Barkan, S. E., Muraco, A., & Hoy-Ellis, C. P. (2013). Health disparities among lesbian, gay, and bisexual older adults: Results from a population-based study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *103*, 1802-1809.
- Freedner, N., Freed, L., Yang, W., & Austin, B. (2002). Dating violence among gay, lesbian, and bisexual adolescents: Results from a community study. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *31*, 469-474.
- GLBT Domestic Violence Coalition and Jane Doe Inc (2005). Shelter/Housing needs for gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender (GLBT) victims of domestic violence. Retrieved from http://www.opdv.ny.gov/whatisdv/lgbtq/lgbtqandheteroipv.html
- Goldberg, J., Matte, N., MacMillan, M., & Hudspith, M. (2003). Community survey: Transition/crossdressing services in BC. Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, 2003. Retrieved from http://transhealth.vch.ca/resources/library/thpdocs/0301survey/report.pdf
 - http://transhealth.vch.ca/resources/library/thpdocs/0301 survey report.pdf

- Grant, J. M., Mottet, L. A., Tanis, J. D., et al. (2011) Injustice at every turn: A report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington, DC: The National Gay and Lesbian Task Force and National Center for Transgender Equality. Retrieved from http://www.thetaskforce.org/reports_and_research/ntds
- Greenberg, M. T., & Harris, A. R. (2012). Nurturing mindfulness in children and youth: Current state of research. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6, 161-166.
- Guerette S. M., Caron S. L. (2007). Assessing the impact of acquaintance rape: Interviews with women who are victims/survivors of sexual assault while in college. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 22, 31–50.
- Hagan, J., & McCarthy, B. (1998). *Mean streets: Youth crime and homelessness*. Cambridge university press.
- Hammelman, T. L. (1993). Gay and lesbian youth: Contributing factors to serious attempts or considerations of suicide. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Psychotherapy*, 2, 77-89.
- Hanish, L. D., & Guerra, N. G. (2002). A longitudinal analysis of patterns of adjustment following peer victimization. *Development and Psychopathology*, *14*, 69-89.
- Hart, T. C., Rennison, C. M. (2003). Reporting crime to the police, 1992-2000. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Heidt, J. M., Marx, B. P., & Gold, S. D. (2005). Sexual victimization among sexual minorities: A preliminary study. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *18*, 533-540.
- Hein, L. C. (2008). LGBT adolescents: Homelessness, violence, distress, discrimination and resilience. *Howard Brown Research News*, April (5). Retrieved from http://www.howardbrown.org
- Hein, L. C., & Scharer. K. M. (2013). Who cares if it is a hate crime? Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender hate crimes: Mental health implications and interventions. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 49, 84-93.
- Henderson, E., Harada, N., & Amar, A. (2012). Caring for the forensic population: Recognizing the educational needs of emergency department nurses and physicians. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 8, 170-177.
- Herek, G. M. (1993). Documenting prejudice against lesbians and gay men on campus: The Yale sexual orientation survey. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 25, 15.
- Herek, G. M. (2009). Hate crimes and stigma-related experiences among sexual minority adults in the United States: Prevalence estimates from a national probability sample. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24, 54-74.
- Hequembourg, A., Livingston, J., & Parks, K. (2013). Sexual victimization and associated risks among lesbian and bisexual women. *Violence Against Women*, 19, 634-657.
- Hindelang, M. J., Gottfredson, M. R., & Garofalo, J. (1978). Victims of personal crime: An empirical foundation for a theory of personal victimization. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.
- Holt, M. K., Felix, E., Grimm, R., Nylund-Gibson, K., Green, J. G., Poteat, V. P., & Zhang, C. (2017). A latent class analysis of past victimization exposures as predictors of college mental health. *Psychology of Violence*, 7, 521-532.
- Howard, D. E., Griffin, M. A., Boekeloo, B. O. (2008). Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of alcohol-related sexual assault among university students. *Adolescence*, *43*, 733–750.

- Hu, S., & Kuh, G. D. (2003). Diversity experiences and college student learning and personal development. *Journal of College Student Development*, 44, 320-334.
- Human Rights Campaign. (2011). State hate crimes laws. Retrieved from http://www.hrc.org/documents/hate_crime_laws.pdf
- Human Rights Campaign. (2015, 2016, 2017, 2018). Violence against transgender community. Retrieved from https://www.hrc.org/resources/violence-against-the-transgender-community-in-2018
- Hunter, J. (1990). Violence against lesbian and gay male youths. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 5, 295-300.
- Iarovici, D. (2014). Mental health issues and the university student. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- In Our Own Voice. (2017). LGBQT crime victim assistance program. Retrieved from http://www.inourownvoices.org/lgbt%20crime%20assist%20program.html
- Javaid, A. (2017). Masculinities, sexualities and identities: Understanding HIV positive and HIV negative male rape victims. *International Sociology*, *32*, 323-342.
- Jaycox, L. H., Marshall, G. N., & Schell, T. (2004). Use of mental health services by men injured through community violence. *Psychiatric Services*, *55*, 415–420.
- Johnson, L. M., Matthews, T. L., & Napper, S. L. (2016). Sexual orientation and sexual assault victimization among US college students. *The Social Science Journal*, *53*, 174-183.
- Kalof, L., & Cargill, T. (1991). Fraternity and sorority membership and gender dominance attitudes. *Sex Roles*, 25, 417-423.
- Kane, J. M., Robinson, D. G., Schooler, N. R., Mueser, K. T., Penn, D. L., Rosenheck, R. A., & Marcy, P. (2015). Comprehensive versus usual community care for first-episode psychosis: 2-year outcomes from the NIMH RAISE early treatment program. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 173, 362-372.
- Katz-Wise, S. L., & Hyde, J. S. (2012). Victimization experience of lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49, 142-167.
- Kaukinen, C. (2004). The help-seeking strategies of female violent-crime victims: The direct and conditional effects of race and the victim-offender relationship. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19, 967–990.
- Kenagy, G. (2005). Transgender health: Findings from two needs assessment studies in Philadelphia. *Health & Social Work*, 30, 19-26.
- King, M., Semlyen, J., Tai, S. S., Killaspy, H., Osborn, D., Popelyuk, D., & Nazareth, I. (2008). A systematic review of mental disorder, suicide, and deliberate self-harm in lesbian, gay and bisexual people. *BMC Psychiatry*, 8, 70.
- Kingsbury, A., Brush, S., Green, E., & Schulte, B. (2007). Toward a safer campus: The ivory tower is more secure than ever, but more safeguards may still be needed. *U.S. News & World Report*, 142, 48-52.
- Koh, A. S., & Ross, L. K. (2006). Mental health issues: A comparison of lesbian, bisexual, and heterosexual women. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *151*, 33-57.
- Koss, M. P. (1990). The women's mental health research agenda: Violence against women. *American Psychologist*, 45, 374-380.

- Koss, M. P., Gidycz, C. A., & Wisniewski, N. (1987). The scope of rape: Incidence and prevalence of sexual aggression and victimization in a national sample of higher education students. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 55, 162.
- Koss, M. P., Koss, P. G., & Woodruff, W. J. (1991). Deleterious effects of criminal victimization on women's health and medical utilization. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 151, 342-347.
- Kuyper, L., & Vanwesenbeeck, I. (2011). Examining sexual health differences between lesbian, gay, and heterosexual adults: The role of socio-demographics, sexual behavior characteristics, and minority stress. *Journal of Sex Research*, 48, 263-274.
- Lambda Legal. (2016). Lambda legal: Making the case for equality. Retrieved from http://www.lambdalegal.org/sites/default/files/lambda_legal_2015_annual_report _-_fob_-_1.pdf
- Landers, S. & Gilsanz P. (2009). The health of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) persons in Massachusetts. Massachusetts Department of Public Health; 2009. Retrieved from
 - http://www.mass.gov/Eeohhs2/docs/dph/commissioner/lgbt_health_report.pdf
- Larsen, M. L., & Hilden, M. (2016). Male victims of sexual assault: 10 years' of experience form a Danish assault center. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*, 43, 8-11.
- Lasky, N. V., Fisher, B. S., Henriksen, C. B., & Swan, S. C. (2017). Binge drinking, Greek-life membership, and first-year undergraduates: The "perfect storm" for drugging victimization. *Journal of School Violence*, *16*, 173-188.
- Lea, T., de Wit, J., & Reynolds, R. (2014). Minority stress in lesbian, gay, and bisexual young adults in Australia: Associations with psychological distress, suicidality, and substance use. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 43, 1571–1578.
- Ledray, L.E., (1999). U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs Office for Victims of Crime. Sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE) development & operations guide (NCJ170609). Retrieved from http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ovc/publications/infores/sane/saneguide.pdf
- Lewis, K. (2015). The road to inequality is paved with good intentions: The effect of language in domestic violence statutes on male victims. *UMKC Law Review*, 83, 789-810.
- Lieberson, S. (1985). Making it count: The improvement of social research and theory. University of California Press.
- Llewellyn, N., & Rudolph, K. D. (2014). Individual and sex differences in the consequences of victimization: Moderation by approach and avoidance motivation. *Developmental Psychology*, 50,
- Loftus, J. (2001). America's liberalization in attitudes toward homosexuality. *American Sociological Review*, 66, 762-782.
- Lombardi, E. L., Wilchins, R., Priesing, D., & Malouf, D. (2001). Gender violence: Transgender experiences with violence and discrimination. Journal of *Homosexuality*, 42, 89-101.
- Mallicoat, S. L. & Ireland, C. E. (2014). *Women and crime: The essentials*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Mallory, C., Hasenbush, A., & Sears, B. (2015). Discrimination and harassment by law enforcement officers in the LGBT community. Retrieved from http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla. edu/wp-content/uploads/LGBT-Discrimination-and-Harassment-in-Law-Enforcement-March-2015.pdf
- Marshal, M. P., Friedman, M. S., Stall, R., King, K. M., Miles, J., Gold, M. A., & Morse, J. Q. (2008). Sexual orientation and adolescent substance use: A meta-analysis and methodological review. *Addiction*, 103, 546-556.
- Martin, A. D., & Hetrick, E. S. (1988). The stigmatization of the gay and lesbian adolescent. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *15*, 163-183.
- Mays, V. M., & Cochran, S. D. (2001). Mental health correlates of perceived discrimination among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91*, 1869-1876.
- McAleavey, A. A., Castonguay, L. G., & Locke, B. D. (2011). Sexual orientation minorities in college counseling: Prevalence, distress, and symptom profiles. *Journal of College Counseling*, 14, 127–142.
- McCart, M. R., Smith, D. W., & Sawyer, G. K. (2010). Help seeking among victims of crime: A review of the empirical literature. *Journal of Trauma Stress*, 23, 198-206
- McCreedy, K. R., & Dennis, B. G. (1996). Sex-related offenses and fear of crime on campus. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 12, 69-80.
- McFarland, W. P., & Dupuis, M. (2001). The legal duty to protect gay and lesbian students from violence in school. *Professional School Counseling*.
- McGinley, M., Wolff, J. M., Rospenda, K. M., Liu, L., & Richman, J. A. (2016). Risk factors and outcomes of chronic sexual harassment during the transition to college: Examination of a two-part growth mixture model. *Social Science Research*, 60297-60310.
- McHugh, M. L. (2009). The odds ratio: calculation, usage, and interpretation. *Biochemic Medica*, 19, 120-126.
- Menard, S. (2002). Applied logistic regression analysis (Vol. 106). Sage.
- Meyer, I. H. (1995). Minority stress and mental health in gay men. *Journal of health and social behavior*, 38-56.
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 674-697.
- Meier, R. F., & Miethe, T. D. (1993). Understanding theories of criminal victimization. *Crime and Justice*, *17*, 459-499.
- Miethe, T. D., & Meier, R. F. (1990). Opportunity, choice, and criminal victimization: A test of a theoretical model. *Journal of research in Crime and Delinquency*, 27, 243-266.
- Mottet, L., & Ohle, J. M. (2003). Transitioning our shelters: A guide to making homeless shelters safe for transgender people. Washington, DC: National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. Retrieved from http://www.thetaskforce.org/downloads/reports/reports/TransitioningOurShelters.pdf
- Murchison, G. R., Boyd, M. A., & Pachankis, J. E. (2017). Minority stress and the risk of unwanted sexual experiences in LGBQ undergraduates. *Sex Roles*, 77, 221-238.

- Mustanski, B. S., Andrews, R., & Pucket, J. A. (2016). The effects of cumulative victimization on mental health among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender adolescents and young adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, 106, 527-533.
- Mustanski, B. S., Garofalo, R., & Emerson, E. M. (2010). Mental health disorders, psychological distress, and suicidality in a diverse sample of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youths. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100, 2426–2432.
- Nasta A., Shah B., Brahmanandam S., Richman K., Wittels K., Allsworth J., Boardman L. (2005). Sexual victimization: Incidence, knowledge and resource use among a population of college women. *Journal of Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology*, 18, 91–96.
- National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2013). The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NIPSVS): 2010 Findings on victimization by sexual orientation. Atlanta, GA: Center for Disease Control and Prevention.
- National Center for Victims of Crime (2015). Hate and bias crime. Retrieved from http://victimsofcrime.org/docs/default-source/ncvrw2015/2015ncvrw_stats_hatecrime.pdf?sfvrsn=2
- National Coalition against Domestic Violence (2015). Statistics. Retrieved from http://www.ncadv.org/learn/statistics
- National Coalition of Anti-violence Programs (NCAVP). (2011). Hate violence against lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and HIV-affected communities in the United States in 2010, National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs.
- National Institute of Justice (NIJ). (2010). Reporting of sexual violence incidents. Retrieved from https://www.nij.gov/topics/crime/rape-sexual-violence/Pages/rape-notification.aspx
- National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (2010). CDC, 2010 summary report. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/nisvs_report2010-a.pdf
- National Sexual Assault Coalition Resource Sharing Project (2010). Core services and characteristics of rape crisis centers: A review of state service standards. Retrieved from http://www.resourcesharing project.org
- National Sexual Violence Resource Center (2015). Statistics about sexual violence. Retrieved from http://www.nsvrc.org/sites/default/files/publications_nsvrc_factsheet_media-packet_statistics-about-sexual-violence_0.pdf
- Nemoto, T., Operario, D., & Keatley, J. (2005). Health and social services for male-to-female transgender persons of color in San Francisco. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 8, 5-19.
- New, M., & Berliner, L. (2000). Mental health service utilization by victims of crime. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 13, 693-707.
- Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2010). Internalized homophobia and internalizing mental health problems: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*, 1019 –1029.
- Nicoletti, J., Bollinger, C. M., & Spencer-Thomas, S. (2009). Violence goes to college: The authoritative guide to prevention and intervention. Springfield: Charles C Thomas.

- Norris, F. H., Kaniasty, K. Z., & Scheer, D. A. (1990). Use of mental health services among victims of crime: Frequency, correlates, and subsequent recovery. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 58, 538–547.
- Oshri, A., Handley, E. D., Sutton, T. E., Wortel, S., & Burnette, M. L. (2014). Developmental trajectories of substance use among sexual minority girls: Associations with sexual victimization and sexual health risk. *Journal of Adolescent health*, 55, 100-106.
- Park, H., & Mykhyalyshyn, I. (2016). L.G.B.T. people are more likely to be targets of hate crimes than any other minority group. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/ interactive/2016/06/16/us/hate-crimes-against-lgbt.html?_r=0
- Pease, K. (1998). Repeat victimisation: Taking stock (Vol. 90). London: Home Office Police Research Group.
- Pilkington, N. W., & D'Augelli, A. R. (1995). Victimization of lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth in community settings. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 23, 33-55.
- Pimlott-Kubiak, S., & Cortina, L. M. (2003). Gender, victimization, and outcomes: Reconceptualizing risk. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71, 528.
- Pitts, V. L., & Schwartz, M. D. (1993). Promoting self-blame in ridden rape cases. *Humanity and Society*, *17*, 383-398.
- Plöderl, M., Sellmeier, M., Fartacek, C., Pichler, E., Fartacek, R., & Kralovec, K. (2014). Explaining the suicide risk of sexual minority individuals by contrasting the minority stress model with suicide models. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 43, 1559-1570.
- Poteat, V. P., Aragon, S. R., Espelage, D. L., & Koenig, B. W. (2009). Psychosocial concerns of sexual minority youth: Complexity and caution in group differences. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77, 196-201.
- Potoczniak, M. J., Murot, J. E., Crosbie-Burnett, M., & Potoczniak, D. J. (2003). Legal and psychological perspectives on same-sex domestic violence: A multisystemic approach. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 17, 252-259.
- Potok, M. (2013). DOJ study: More than 250,000 hate crimes a year, most unreported. Retrieved from https://www.splcenter.org/hatewatch/2013/03/26/doj-study-more-250000-hate-crimes-year-most-unreported
- Pratt, T. C., & Turanovic, J. J. (2016). Lifestyle and routine activity theories revisited: The importance of "risk" to the study of victimization. *Victims & Offenders*, 11, 335.
- Prospero, M., & Vohra-Gupta, S. (2008). The use of mental health services among victims of partner violence on college campuses. *Journal of Aggression*, *Maltreatment, and Trauma*, 16, 376–390.
- Quintana, S. N., Rosenthal, J., & Kehely, J. (2010). On the streets: The federal response to gay and transgender homeless youth. Washington, DC: Center for American Progress (CAP). Retrieved from http://www.americanprogress.org/issues/lgbt/report/2010/06/21/7983/on-the-streets/
- RAINN (Rape, Abuse & Incest National Network). (2010). The criminal justice system: Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.rainn.org/statistics/criminal-justice-system

- Rankin, S. R. (2003). Campus climate for gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender people: A national perspective. New York: *National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute*.
- Rankin, S. R., Weber, G., Blumenfeld, W., & Frazer, S. (2010). State of higher education for lesbian, gay, bisexual & transgender people. Charlotte, NC: Campus Pride.
- Renn, K. (2017). LGBTQ students on campus: Issues and opportunities for higher education leaders. Retrieved from https://www.higheredtoday.org/2017/04/10/lgbtq-students-higher-education/
- Rennison, C. M. (1999). Criminal victimization 1998: Changes 1997-98 with trends 1993-1998 (Bureau of Justice Statistics, National Crime Victimization Survey). Washington, DC: Government Printing Office
- Rennison, C. A. (2002). Rape and sexual assault: Reporting to police and medical attention, 1992-2000. Retrieved from the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved from http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/rsarp00.pdf
- Resnick, H. S., Holmes, M. M., Kilpatrick, D. G., Clum, G., Acierno, R., Best, C. L., et al. (2000). Predictors of post-rape medical care in a national sample of women. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 19, 214–219.
- Rodriguez, M., Valentine, J. M., Son, J. B., & Muhammad, M. (2009). Intimate partner violence and barriers to mental health care for ethnically diverse populations of women. *Trauma*, *Violence*, *and Abuse*, *10*, 358–374.
- Rosario, M., Schrimshaw, E. W., & Hunter, J. (2005). Psychological distress following suicidality among gay, lesbian, and bisexual youths: Role of social relationships. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *34*, 149-161.
- Rosenstock, I. M. (2005). Why people use health services. The Milbank Quarterly, 83.
- Rostosky, S. S., Owens, G. P., Zimmerman, R. S., & Riggle, D. B. (2003). Associations among sexual attraction status, school belonging, and alcohol and marijuana use in rural high school students. *Journal of Adolescence*, 26, 741-751.
- Sabina, C., & Ho, L. Y. (2014). Campus and college victim responses to sexual assault and dating violence: Disclosure, service utilization, and service provision. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse, 15*, 201-226.
- Savin-Williams, R. (2001). Mom. Dad. I'm gay. Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Seelau, S. M., & Seelau, E. P. (2005). Gender-role stereotypes and perceptions of heterosexual, gay and lesbian domestic violence. *Journal of family violence*, 20, 363-371.
- Seelman, K. L., Colon-Diaz, M. J.P., LeCroix, R.H., Xavier-Brier, M., & Kattari, L. (2017).
- Transgender noninclusive healthcare and delaying care because of fear: Connections to general health and mental health among transgender adults. *Transgender Health*, 2, 17-28.
- Shilo, G., & Savaya, R. (2011). Effects of family and friend support on LGB youths' mental health and sexual orientation milestones. *Family Relations*, 60, 318-330.
- Sigurvinsdottir, R., & Ullman, S. E. (2015). The role of sexual orientation in the victimization and recovery of sexual assault survivors. *Violence and Victims*, *30*, 636-648.

- Simmel, C., Postmus, J., & Lee, I. (2016). Revictimized adult women: Perceptions of mental health functioning and associated services. *Journal of Family Violence*, 31, 679-688.
- Skogan, W. G. (1984). Reporting crimes to the police: The status of world research. Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency, 21, 113-137
- Sloan, J. J., & Fisher, B. (2013). Campus crime: Legal, social, and policy perspectives. Springfield, Ill: Charles C Thomas.
- Sloan, J. J., Fisher, B. S., & Cullen, F. T. (1997). Assessing the student right-to-know and Campus Security Act of 1990: An analysis of the victim reporting practices of college and university students. *Crime and Delinquency*, 43, 148-168.
- Sloan III, J. J., Lanier, M. M., & Beer, D. L. (2000). Policing the contemporary university campus: Challenging traditional organizational models. *Journal of Security Administration*, 23, 1.
- Smalley, K. B., Warren, J. C., & Barefoot, K. N. (2016). Differences in health risk behaviors across understudied LGBT subgroups. *Health Psychology*, *35*, 103-114.
- Smith, P. H., White, J. W., & Holland, L. J. (2003). A longitudinal perspective on dating violence among adolescent and college-age women. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*, 1104-1109.
- Solberg, M. E., Olweus, D., & Endresen, I. M. (2007). Bullies and victims at school: Are they the same pupils? *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77, 441-464.
- Starzynski, L. L., Ullman, S. E., Townsend, S. M., Long, L. M., & Long, S. M. (2007). What factors predict women's disclosure of sexual assault to mental health professionals. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *35*, 619–638.
- Stotzer, R. L. (2009). Violence against transgender people: A review of United States data. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *14*, 170-179.
- Taylor, K. W., & Kliewer, W. (2006). Violence exposure and early adolescent alcohol use: An exploratory study of family risk and protective factors. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 15, 201-215.
- Teasdale, B., & Bradley-Engen, M. S. (2010). Adolescent same sex attraction and mental health: The role of stress and support. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *57*, 287-309.
- Tetreault, P. A., Fette, R., Meidlinger, P. C., & Hope, D. (2013). Perceptions of campus climate by sexual minorities. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 60, 947-964.
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (2000). Prevalence and consequences of male-to-female and female to-male intimate partner violence as measured by the National Violence Against Women Survey. *Violence against women*, 6, 142-161.
- Tjaden, P., Thoennes, N., & Allison, C. J. (1999). Comparing violence over the life span in samples of same-sex and opposite-sex cohabitants. *Violence and Victims*, *14*, 413-425.
- Tollefson, T. (2015). Victimological advances in theory, policy, and services. Fresno, CA Dumont Printing.
- Tomsich, E. A., Gover, A. R., & Jennings, W. G. (2011). Examining the role of gender in the prevalence of campus victimization, perceptions of fear and risk of crime, and the use of constrained behaviors among college students attending a large urban university. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 22, 181-202.

- Toomy, R. B., Ryan, C., Diaz, R. M., Card, N. A., & Russell, S. T. (2010). Gender- non conforming lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth: School victimization and young psychosocial adjustment. *Developmental Psychology*, 46, 1580–1589.
- Travers, R. & Paoletti, D. (1999). Responding to the support needs of HIV positive lesbian, gay, and bisexual youth. *Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 8, 271-283.
- Travers, R. & Schneider, M. (1996). Barriers to accessibility for lesbian and gay youth needing addiction services. *Youth & Society*, 27, 356-378.
- Ullman, S. E., & Brecklin, L. R. (2008). Sexual assault history, PTSD, and mental health service seeking in a national sample of women. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *30*, 261–279.
- Veltman, A., & Chaimowitz, G. (2014). Mental health care for people who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and (or) queer. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 59, 1-7.
- Walsh W. A., Banyard V. L., Moynihan M. M., Ward S., Cohen E. S. (2010). Disclosure and service use on a college campus after an unwanted sexual experience. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 11, 134–151.
- Walters, M. L., Chen, J., & Breiding, M. J. (2013). The national intimate partner and sexual violence survey (NISVS): 2010 findings on victimization by sexual orientation. *Atlanta*, *GA*: *National Center for Injury Prevention and Control*, *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*, 648, 6.
- Wechsler, H., Lee, J. E., Kuo, M., & Lee, H. (2000). College binge drinking in the 1990s: A continuing problem results of the Harvard School of Public Health 1999 College Alcohol Study. *Journal of American College Health*, 48, 199-210.
- Wechsler, H., & Nelson, T. F. (2001). Binge drinking and the American college students: What's five drinks? *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, *15*, 287-291.
- Weinberg, S. L., & Abramowitz, S. K. (2002). *Data analysis for the behavioral sciences using SPSS*. Cambridge University Press.
- Weiner, M. D., Sussman, S., Sun, P., & Dent, C. (2005). Explaining the link between violence perpetration, victimization and drug use. *Addictive Behaviors*, *30*, 1261-1266.
- Williamson, C. (2010). Providing care to transgender persons: a clinical approach to primary care, hormones, and HIV management. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, 21, 221-229.
- Willis, D. G. (2008). Meanings in adult male victims' experiences of hate crime and its aftermath. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 29, 567-584.
- Willoughby, B. L., Doty, N. D., & Malik, N. M. (2010). Victimization, family, rejection, And outcomes of gay, lesbian, and bisexual young people: The role of negative GLB identity. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 6, 403-424.
- Windle, M. (1994). Substance use, risky behaviors, and victimization among a US national adolescent sample. *Addiction*, 89, 175-182.
- Winfree Jr, L. T., & Jiang, S. (2010). Youthful suicide and social support: Exploring the social dynamics of suicide-related behavior and attitudes within a national sample of US adolescents. *Youth violence and juvenile justice*, 8, 19-37.

- Veltman, A., & Chaimowitz, G. (2014). Mental health care for people who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and (or) queer. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 59, 1-7.
- Vocativ. (2015). FBI anti-LGBT hate crime statistics point to reporting problem. Retrieved from http://www.vocativ.com/culture/lgbt/fbi-anti-lgbt-hate-crime-statistics-point-to-reporting-problem/

VITA

Sarah Lashone Napper was born in Douglas County, Georgia but has spent the last 14 years Carrollton, Georgia. She attended the University of West Georgia for her BS and MS in Criminology. She attended Georgia State University for her PhD in Criminology and Criminal Justice. This dissertation completes her final work in the program and she will graduate in August 2018. Sarah has accepted a position as an Assistant Professor in the Department of Criminal Justice at Auburn University at Montgomery, which will begin in the Fall of 2018.

The main focus of Sarah's research is centered on victims of crime and LGBQT minority groups. Her work has been published in journals including the Social Science Journal and Drug and Alcohol Review. Sarah is a member of Alpha Phi Sigma National Criminal Justice Honor Society and the Criminal Justice Graduate Student Association at Georgia State University. In addition, Sarah is a member of numerous professional associations, including the American Society of Criminology, the Academy of Criminal Justice Sciences, and the Southern Criminal Justice Association.